

Effects of climate change on reproduction, larval development, and adult health of coral trout (*Plectropomus* spp.)

M.S. Pratchett, V. Messmer, A. Reynolds, J. Martin, T.D. Clark, P.L. Munday, A.J.Tobin, and A.S. Hoey



JAMES COOK UNIVERSITY AUSTRALIA



Australian Government Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency



Project No. 2010/554





Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry

Project No. 2010/554

Title: Effects of climate change on reproduction, larval development, and adult health of coral trout (*Plectropomus* spp.)

Authors: Morgan S. Pratchett, Vanessa Messmer, Adam Reynolds, Timothy D. Clark, Philip L. Munday, Andrew J. Tobin, and Andrew S. Hoey

FRDC Project No: 2010/554

Date: 30 June, 2013

© Copyright Fisheries Research and Development Corporation and James Cook University, 2013.

This work is copyright. Except as permitted under the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), no part of this publication may be reproduced by any process, electronic or otherwise, without the specific written permission of the copyright owners. Information may not be stored electronically in any form whatsoever without such permission.

Disclaimer

The authors do not warrant that the information in this document is free from errors or omissions. The authors do not accept any form of liability, be it contractual, tortuous, or otherwise, for the contents of this document or for any consequences arising from its use or any reliance placed upon it. The information, opinions and advice contained in this document may not relate, or be relevant, to a reader's particular circumstances. Opinions expressed by the authors are the individual opinions expressed by those persons and are not necessarily those of the publisher, research provider or the FRDC.

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation plans, invests in and manages fisheries research and development throughout Australia. It is a statutory authority within the portfolio of the federal Minister for Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, jointly funded by the Australian Government and the fishing industry.



CONTENTS

1.0 NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY	4
2.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
 3.0 BACKGROUND	8 9 10 11 12 13 13 15 17 18
 6.1 Effects of temperature and ocean acidification on larval survival	18 20 22 25 27 31 31 33
 7.0 RESULTS/ DISCUSSION	35 39 41 43 45 49 54 57
8.0 BENEFITS AND ADOPTION	60
9.0 FURTHER DEVELOPMENT	63
10.0 PLANNED OUTCOMES	67
11.0 CONCLUSIONS	68
12.0 REFERENCES	69
13.0 APPENDICES 13.1 Intellectual property 13.2 Staff	. 76 76 76



1.0 NON TECHNICAL SUMMARY

2010/554	Effects	of	climate	change	on	reproduction,	larval	development,	and
	population growth of coral trout (Plectropomus spp.)								

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR:	Prof. Morgan S. Pratchett
ADDRESS:	ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies
	James Cook University
	Townsville, QLD 4811
	Ph (07)47815747
	Email morgan.pratchett@jcu.edu.au

OBJECTIVES:

The overarching objective of this study was to test the sensitivity of coral trout (mainly, *Plectropomus leopardus*) to changes in habitat and environmental conditions (specifically, increasing temperature and ocean acidification) linked to ongoing climate change. Comprehensive understanding of all direct and indirect effects of climate change on coral trout, and across all different life stages, will require extensive ongoing research. This study comprised four independent projects intended as the first step towards understanding whether large, commercially important fisheries species will be more or less vulnerable compared to small site-attached reef fishes on which prior research has been conducted. These four projects explored:

- 1. Effects of increasing temperature and ocean acidification on fertilisation and egg development using gametes obtained *P. leopardus* that were spawned in captivity
- 2. Effects of ocean acidification (declining pH) on the sensory discrimination and behaviour of early post-settlement *P. leopardus*
- 3. Variation in sensitivities and responses of adult *P. leopardus*, directly comparing between fishes from northern and southern sections of the Great Barrier Reef
- 4. Reliance on live corals for settlement and post-settlement survivorship, to test whether coral trout will be adversely affected by climate-induced bleaching and coral loss

OUTCOMES ACHIEVED TO DATE:

This project has unequivocally shown that coral trout and particularly, *Plectropomus leopardus*, are sensitive to changes in habitat and environmental conditions expected to occur as a consequence of sustained and ongoing climate change. More specifically, coral trout will negatively affected by degradation of coral reef habitats (specifically, declines in abundance



of *Acropora* colonies), increasing temperature, and ocean acidification. It is unclear if, when, or how these changes will impact the size, abundance and catchability of coral trout, which are key to understanding effects on the productivity and profitability of wild fisheries and particularly, commercial fisheries. However, this project shows that coral trout are vulnerable to climate change and so, more research is urgently required to understand the specific effects on wild stocks and associated fisheries, as well as exploring appropriate adaptation options within each of the distinct fisheries sectors; commercial, charter, recreational and indigenous fisheries

KEY BIOLOGICAL FINDINGS:

- Development, growth and survival of larval coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) were severely impacted at 2-3°C above current ambient temperatures, at 30-32°C. Unless *P. leopardus* is able to adapt to increasing temperatures (e.g., by spawning earlier in the year) fertilisation success and larval development and survival are likely to be much lower with ongoing temperature increases, especially in the northern GBR.
- 2. Although ocean acidification did not seem to have an effect on larval growth and survival, it greatly altered the behaviour of common coral trout larvae. In more acidic water expected by the end of the century, *P. leopardus* larvae spent a lot less time in the safety of shelter and were attracted to predator odour instead of avoiding predators in current conditions. This is expected to lead to much lower levels of survivorship in newly settled larvae and juveniles.
- 3. Juvenile coral trout (specifically, *P. maculatus* had a strong reliance on live corals at settlement. Importantly, >70% of trout that were <15cm TL were found living in close association with live colonies of *Acropora* corals in the Keppel Islands. This strong affinity with one specific habitat, suggests that live coral must offer a significant fitness advantage in terms of growth and survivorship. Therefore, ongoing declines in the abundance of Acropora would be expected to reduce successful recruitment. Tests of the generality of these findings for other corals trout (e.g., *P. leopardus*) are ongoing.
- Temperature had a strong effect on the metabolism (aerobic scope) and survival of adult *P. leopardus*. The cost of staying alive increases with temperature, but energy available for activities such as foraging were greatly reduced at 33°C.



Furthermore, coral trout were unable to survive exhausting physical activities at 30°C and 33°C, but were not affected at 24°C and 27°C.

- 5. Populations of *P. leopardus* from the northern and southern GBR seemed to be equally affected by absolute (not relative) temperature increases. If coral trout are adapted to local temperature regimes the northern population would be expected to be able to tolerate higher temperatures than southern populations. Our findings suggest that the common coral trout has a very limited capacity to adapt to increasing temperatures.
- 6. Although higher temperatures require fish to spend more energy to meet metabolic demands, individual fishes did not compensate by increasing food intake. Unless fish are able to behaviourally adapt to increasing temperatures (e.g., by moving to deeper cooler waters), they are likely to lose condition during hot summer months, which would lead to reduced growth and reproductive output.

IMPLICATIONS FOR FISHERIES MANAGEMENT:

There are several different ways in which climate change will affect coral trout, but the most immediate and direct impacts relate to effects of increasing temperature on larval and juvenile life stages. Our research suggests that wild populations of coral trout on Australia's Great Barrier Reef will be severely compromised due to limited survivorship of larval trout whenever or wherever ocean temperatures exceed 30°C. Tank-based studies of aerobic scope, suggest that these effects will be further compounded by declines in the size, growth and reproductive capacity of adult fishes regularly exposed to these temperatures. Average reefwide sea surface temperatures (SST) on the Great Barrier Reef are expected to exceed 30°C between 2065-2080, though maximum summer-time temperatures already approach (if not exceed) this threshold in the northern GBR. If coral trout are unable to adapt or acclimate to increasing temperatures (behaviourally or physiologically) then it is very likely that the sustainability of fisheries for coral trout on the GBR will be undermined by sustained and ongoing increases in ocean temperatures, and these effects will be felt first and worst in the northern GBR, where temperatures are already much closer to the 30°C threshold. The key however, is to understand how individual fish and populations as a whole respond to fluctuations in ocean temperatures, both on very short (days to weeks) and longer time-frames (generations). It may be that tank-based studies conducted here, overestimate the vulnerability of coral trout to increasing temperatures and other climate-induced changes in environmental and habitat-conditions by failing to account for behavioural responses that can occur in the



wild. For example, large mobile fishes, such as coral trout, would expected to have increased capacity (compared to small site-attached reef fishes) to escape areas of warm water by moving offshore and to greater depths.

FURTHER RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT:

This project represents the very first step in assessing the vulnerability of coral trout to climate change, using manipulative experiments to assess the sensitivity of fishes to projected changes in environmental and habitat conditions. Given the limited time and budget, research was focussed on several processes and life-stages (e.g., survivorship of zygotes immediately after fertilization) that were expected to be extremely vulnerable. Even so, the sensitivity of coral trout to increasing temperature, ocean acidification and climate-induced habitat degradation was far greater than was expected. The imperative now is to understand how these effects will manifest in terms of the productivity and sustainability of fisheries for wild stocks on the GBR. Essential future research falls in to three key areas:

- 1. Explore the comprehensive range of effects that climate change will have on the individual condition ad demography and population dynamics of coral trout, considering not only *P. leopardus*, but also *P. maculatus*.
- Explore behavioural and physiological responses of individuals and populations to environmental extremes, in order to better understand the adaptive capacity of coral trout. This is key to understanding the consequences of climate change on wild stocks and associated fisheries.
- 3. Explore adaptation options for fishers and fisheries that rely heavily on coral trout. While it is not yet clear if or when coral trout populations will be compromised, there are significant advantages (in maximising the range of adaptation options available) to initiating research in to the adaptive capacity of the fishery as soon as possible.

KEYWORDS:

Serranidae, *Plectropomus*, climate change, Coral Reef Fin Fish Fishery, larval development, aerobic scope, gene expression, vulnerability, sensitivity, exposure, adaptive capacity, temperature, habitat degradation, ocean acidification



2.0 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Numerous people aided in the successful completion of this project. In particular, we would like to thank Ben Lawes, Simon Wever, and Andrew Thompson (Marine and Aquaculture Research Facilities Unit at James Cook University) for ongoing logistical support. Respirometers were built with the help of Ross Barrett. Important contributions to this research were made by Darren Coker and Jacob Johansen (ecology and biology), Lynne van Herwerden and Heather Veilleux (gene expression), and Kate Hutson (parasites and pathology). Aside from funding received from FRDC-DCEE, this project was funded by Queensland Smart Futures, Lizard Island Reef Research Foundation, and the ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies.



3.0 BACKGROUND

Climate change is emerging as the single greatest threat to coral-reef ecosystems and reefassociated fishes (Munday et al. 2008, Pratchett et al. 2008, Bell et al. 2013). The most immediate impacts will be a loss of diversity and changes to fish community composition as a result of coral bleaching and climate-induced habitat degradation (Pratchett et al. 2008). Such effects are likely to become increasingly important in the future, and may lead to eventual declines in abundance and productivity of key fisheries species (e.g., Pratchett et al. 2011c, Bell et al. 2013). However, increasing experimental studies are also showing that fishes will be directly affected by increasing temperature (e.g., Pörtner 2001, Perry et al. 2005) and ocean acidification (e.g., Pörtner and Farrell 2008, Munday et al. 2009a,b), linked to global climate change. Additional environmental changes and severe climatic events, such as increased severity of tropical cyclones, more extreme rainfall events and sea level rise, could have further important effects for some taxa or life-stages (Munday et al. 2008, 2009a), but these effects will be mostly due to changes in habitat structure. Tropical cyclones, for example, are expected to become more intense in a warmer world (Webster et al. 2005) contributing to increased incidence and severity of disturbances within coastal environments. Tropical cyclones often cause a temporary decline in the abundance of some fishes (Halford et al. 2004), but this is mostly due to the loss of critical habitat or food (Wilson et al. 2006). Higher intensity cyclones will cause greater damage to key habitat-forming species, such as corals and sea grasses (Madin and Connolly 2006), compounding upon other climatic disturbances, such as coral bleaching.

Effects of climate change on marine organisms will vary depending on their specific biology and ecology (Munday et al. 2008). For example, recent effects of climate-induced coral loss on reef fishes vary depending upon their reliance on live corals for food, shelter and/ or recruitment (Pratchett et al. 2008). Other fishes may also be susceptible to climate change owing to their specific sensitivities to changes in temperature or ocean chemistry. However, research on ecological effects of climate change on coral reef fishes is mostly limited to small, strongly habitat-associated species, such as anemone fishes (e.g., Munday et al. 2009a), which have little relevance to food fishes and fisheries. In order to establish the economic consequences of climate change based on potential effects on important fishery species, there is definite need to test effects of increasing temperature and ocean acidification on larger, piscivorous species.



3.1 Family Serranidae

The family Serranidae is one of the largest and most diverse families of perciform fishes, comprising nearly 500 species. The family includes very large carnivorous species (e.g., *Epinephelus lanceolatus*) as well as several smaller planktivorous species (e.g., *Pseudanthias* spp.). However, the best-known species, and most conspicuous components of reef fish assemblages, are the larger *Epinephelus* and *Plectropomus* species (subfamily Epinephelinae) that are among the largest coral reef fishes. As dominant predators, the epinepheline serranids (groupers) also play a major ecological role in structuring reef fish assemblages (e.g., Almany 2003).

Epinepheline serranids are among the most important and valuable tropical fisheries species, and have been heavily exploited throughout the world (e.g., Morris et al. 2000). In particular, groupers are the most intensively exploited group for the live fish trade (Morris et al. 2000), and the high prices paid for individual fishes (up to US\$10,256) places considerable pressure on target species (Sadovy and Vincent 2002). Since the late 1960's the demand for groupers (and other high-value species, such as Cheilinus undulatus) has resulted in sequential overexploitation of reefs and locations at increasing distances from the central market (in Hong Kong), including the Philippines, Indonesia, Solomon Islands, and Fiji. Many ephinepheline serranids also have biological characteristics that make them particularly vulnerable to fishing. In particular, many of the most heavily exploited species, tend to form very large spawning aggregations that can be readily targeted by local fishers (Morris et al. 2002). The Nassau grouper (Epinephelus striatus), for example, may form aggregations of tens of thousands of individuals, and individuals migrate up to 240 km to form aggregations. Heavy fishing of spawning aggregations is the major reason for the catastrophic decline in populations of *E. striatus*, which is now regarded as Endangered throughout the West Indies (Beets and Hixon 1994).

Reproductive biology of fishes in the family Serranidae is diverse and complex. Most serranids are protogynous hermaphrodites, changing sex from female to male, as has been shown for two species of coral trout *Plectropomus laevis* and *P. leopardus* (Adams 2003). There are however, a number of exceptions and variations to the generalised reproductive pattern. For example, Sadovy and Colin (1995) deduced that the *E. striatus* is gonochoristic, whereby juvenile fishes become males or females upon maturity, and there is no evidence of



sex change in the field. As a consequence, it is difficult to generalise about the reproductive biology for the large number of species (75%) for which nothing is currently known about reproductive biology. Also, most of the biological research on serranids has been conducted in the Caribbean and for species that do not occur in Australia (e.g., Sadovy and Colin 1995), even though the highest diversity of serranids is found within the Indo-Pacific.

3.2 Plectropomus leopardus



Figure 3.2.1. The common coral trout or leopard grouper, *Plectropomus leopardus*.

The single most important fishery species on Australia's Great Barrier Reef is the common coral trout, *Plectropomus leopardus* Lacepède 1802 (Figure 3.2.1). This species is found mainly in the western Pacific from southern Japan and Australia, eastward to Fiji. *Plectropomus leopardus* is ecologically and economically important, representing major target species of commercial reef-based fin-fish fisheries in Australia and accounts for > 50% of the total commercial catch (Mapstone et al. 1996). Historically (prior to 1998), most *P. leopardus* were caught and filleted for the Australian domestic market, but >90% of the catch is now exported live to the lucrative Southeast Asian markets. Exports of coral trout are worth as much as \$67.3 million per annum, and coral trout are the economic mainstay reef-based fisheries in the western Pacific (Welch et al. 2008). While the biomass and abundance of coral trout are certainly higher on reefs closed to fishing, compared to fished reefs (e.g., Williamson et al. 2004), commercial fisheries for *P. leopardus* on the Great Barrier Reef are generally



considered to be sustainable (Mapstone et al. 1996). If however, coral trout are sensitive to increases in temperature and/or ocean acidification, ongoing climate change could greatly undermine the sustainability of these, and many other reef-based fisheries in the Pacific (Pratchett et al. 2011).

3.3 Effects of temperature on fish

Every organism thrives within a limited range of environmental conditions, for which it is optimally adapted. Optimal conditions and the range of conditions an organism can tolerate vary greatly between species and species groups. For ectotherms (e.g., fishes) temperature plays a vital role, as their internal temperature directly reflects what they experience in their environment. Temperature determines the distribution of a species and influences all levels of biological organisation, including nearly all biochemical, physiological and life history activities (e.g., Feldhaus et al. 2010, Beitinger et al. 2000). Virtually all cellular processes, including protein stability and enzymatic activity are influenced by temperature (Hochachka and Somero 2002), but the thermal environment also affects habitat choice and behaviour (Gamperl et al. 2002). Fish exposed to thermal conditions outside their optimal range are able to allocate less energy to development, growth, reproduction, foraging and overall fitness is reduced. Once a certain threshold is exceeded, passive survival is only possible for a limited time period (Pörtner and Farrell 2008). Although some studies have shown that different populations of the same species can adapt to their local thermal environment (Edmunds et al. 2010, Gardiner et al. 2010, Eliason et al. 2011), whether or not this is true for other species and whether these populations will be able to adapt/acclimate to changing environmental conditions is less well known.

Fishes are poikilotherms and rely on the thermal performance of vital physiological processes to survive (Pörtner and Farrell 2008, Pörtner et al. 2010). When occupying habitats with optimum temperatures fish may benefit from increased metabolic scope (i.e. the difference between resting and maximum oxygen uptake, equivalent to the energy available for activities), increased oxygen delivery to tissues, stronger and faster muscle contraction, and increased swimming performance (Luiker and Stevens 1994, Pörtner 2009, Pörtner et al. 2010, Johansen and Jones 2011). In turn, this can improve foraging, predator evasion and reproduction (Wood and McDonald 1997, Pörtner et al. 2010). However, at temperatures above optimum, tissues and muscles require more oxygen to function while metabolic scope may be severely reduced and activities must then be prioritized within the remaining available



energy (Pörtner et al. 2010). Under these conditions, individuals may be forced to compromise between food-intake and energetically demanding activities such as swimming. As temperatures increase due to global warming it is predicted that populations of thermally sensitive marine organisms will shift to higher latitudes, while populations that endure warmer waters may exhibit changes in their life history traits, such as growth rates and average longevity (Munday et al. 2008). Global warming is likely, therefore, to have significant consequences for the distribution and abundance of key fisheries species, as well as productivity and composition of coastal fisheries.

Fishes from tropical waters, such as coral reefs, have evolved in a comparatively stable environment and may therefore only be tolerant to a narrow range of temperatures. As a result, coral reef fishes are often expected to be particularly sensitive to global warming (e.g., Deutsch et al. 2008, Munday et al. 2008). The response of coral reef fish species to climate change will depend on how close a species already is to their thermal limit in their natural environment and how the species will respond to increasing temperatures (Stillman 2003). To what degree a species will be able to adapt or acclimatise its thermal tolerance will determine the persistence of populations in regions where the temperature will exceed their current thermal limits.

3.4 Effects of ocean acidification on fish

Ocean acidification, caused by the uptake of additional carbon dioxide (CO₂) at the ocean surface, is a serious threat to marine ecosystems (Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007, Fabry et al. 2008) and associated fisheries (e.g., Cooley and Doney 2009). Additional CO₂ dissolved in the ocean reacts with seawater to form weak carbonic acid, causing pH to decline and reducing the availability of dissolved carbonate ions that are required by many marine calcifying organisms (particularly corals and other invertebrates) to build their shells or skeletons (Orr et al. 2005). Ongoing ocean acidification will reduce growth and survivorship of many calcifying organisms and thereby impact on food webs that depend on them (Fabry et al. 2008, Doney et al 2009). The reduction in ocean pH could also have a range of direct effects on marine organisms, from increased metabolic demands to developmental problems (Pörtner et al. 2004).



Increased CO₂ not only acidifies the ocean, it also acts to decrease the pH of animal tissue (Ishimatsu et al. 2005, 2008, Pörtner et al. 2004). Fishes compensate for this acidification with bicarbonate accumulation and counter-exchange of ion across the gills (Heisler 1989, Claiborne et al. 2002). Consequently, most fishes appear to be tolerant to a wide range of dissolved CO₂ levels and water pH (Ishimatsu et al. 2005, Pörtner et al. 2004, 2005). Compensation of acidosis is not detrimental in the short-term, but may impose long-term physiological costs, especially for species or life stages with high metabolic demands (Pörtner et al. 2004) or when compounded by higher metabolic demands at elevated temperatures (Pörtner and Farrell 2008). Direct effects of elevated CO₂ (hypercapnia) are likely to be greatest during the early life history phases of marine animals (Ishimatsu et al. 2004, Pörtner et al. 2004). The only study conducted to date on reef fishes using CO₂ levels relevant to climate change prediction (up to 1000ppm) did not detect any negative effects on the growth or development of clownfish larvae (Munday et al. 2009a). However, more studies are urgently needed to test the effect of elevated CO₂ across a broader range of species, and to test for possible synergistic effects of elevated temperature and CO₂.

A greater concern for marine fishes is the effect that elevated CO_2 levels could have on the sensory ability of larvae (e.g., Munday et al. 2009b). Recent research has shown that that clownfish larvae exposed to CO_2 -acidified water lost their ability to distinguish olfactory cues of preferred settlement habitat (Munday et al. 2009b), or to detect and avoid the smell of predators (Dixson et al. 2010), at the end of their larval phase. When reared in water treated with 1000ppm CO_2 the larvae became strongly attracted to chemical cues that they avoided in control water. The larvae of many marine fishes use chemical cues for a wide range of important behaviour decisions, including navigation to reefs and selection of settlement sites (Atema et al. 2002, Gerlach et al. 2007). Impairment of this process by ocean acidification could have serious implications for the replenishment of adult populations and patterns of population connectivity in coral reef ecosystems.



4.0 NEED

This research is critical to the National Climate Change Adaptation Research Plan, and addresses several of the information needs and research gaps identified under sectoral subthemes of i) Aquaculture, ii) Commercial and recreational fishing, iii) Conservation management, and iv) Tourism and recreational uses.

Specifically this study:

i) Addresses the severity of likely impacts of climate change on coral trout, which are the No. 1 commercial and recreational fin-fish fisheries species caught within coral reef waters, and account for 41% of wild-caught fish in Queensland waters;

ii) Will predict spatial and temporal changes in the fisheries production of coral trout populations across the entire area of the Great Barrier Reef, which is critical for spatial zoning of fisheries closures and assessing the immediacy of required intervention;

iii) Identifies environmental tolerances of coral trout, especially during highly sensitive larval stages, which impacts natural recruitment of wild populations, and grow-out of juveniles in open aquaculture systems, which is necessary for further development of coral trout production;

iv) Explores ontogenetic changes in the habitat requirements of newly-settled, juvenile and sub-adult coral trout, thought to rely on habitat structure provided by good coral growth. If so, this will help to establish coral reef habitats of high conservation priority, and

v) Significantly advances understanding of climate impacts on coral reef fishes, which are critical for both fisheries and tourism industries on the Great Barrier Reef, currently worth in excess of \$6 billion to the Australian economy.

The research is critically important for commercial and recreational fisheries, and has strong endorsement by the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority (GBRMPA), which is responsible for conserving biodiversity of the Great Barrier Reef and ensuring ecologically sustainable use of its resources. The proposed research is of considerable benefit to GBRMPA in that it addresses several of the action strategies identified in the GBRMPA Climate Change Action Plan, including i) to explore specific sensitivities of ecologically and economically



important species (e.g., top predators and key fisheries species) to climate change, ii) identifying areas of low and high resilience to climate change to prioritize investment of management effort, and iii) identify thresholds beyond which climate change causes irreversible damage to vulnerable species. Ultimately, this research will help to fill key knowledge gaps about climate change impacts on larger fishes, which are fundamental to optimizing resilience-based management, and in turn improve the adaptive capacity of industries and communities along the Great Barrier Reef.



5.0 OBJECTIVES

This project was intended to provide a holistic overview of the vulnerability of coral trout (mainly, *Plectropomus leopardus*) to sustained and ongoing climate change on Australia's Great Barrier Reef. This involved studies to test both direct (e.g., effects of increasing temperature and ocean acidification) and indirect (climate-induced habitat degradation) effects of climate change at all stages in the life cycle of these fishes. This study used a comprehensive, multi-disciplinary approach to assess the effects of climate change on *Plectropomus* spp. Methods used encompassed physiology (metabolic rate, blood parameters, physical activity, critical thermal maximum), genetics (gene expression), biology (fertilisation, development) and ecology (habitat use).

Preliminary objectives of this study were fourfold.

- 5. To assess sensitivities of coral trout to climate-related changes in temperature and seawater chemistry, during fertilisation and early larval development
- 6. To test the effects of ocean acidification on behaviour of early post-settlement coral trout
- 7. To test for spatial variation in sensitivities to increasing temperatures among adult populations of coral trout along the Great Barrier Reef
- 8. To measure coral-dependence at different ontogenetic stages, to test whether coral trout will be adversely affected by climate-induced bleaching and coral loss



6.0 METHODS

6.1 Effects of temperature and ocean acidification on larval survival

Effects of climate change on large, piscivorous fishes (e.g., *Plectropomus leopardus*) are expected to be most pronounced during early life-history stages, from fertilisation through to first feeding. This is because of the small size of individuals (Ospina and Mora 2004), but also the critical effects of temperature and other environmental conditions on developmental rates and the incidence of abnormalities. Tests of the effects of increased temperatures and pH were conducted using eggs and larvae obtained from captive broodstock of common coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) at the Northern Fisheries Centre (NFC), Queensland Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry.

Captive broodstock (1 male : 4 females sex ratio) were maintained in 30,000L tanks and reproductive condition controlled by manipulating the photo-thermal regime ($27.5 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$ C; 13:11 hours ratio of day and night; 28-day lunar cycle). All broodstock are conditioned on a diet of pilchard, squid and vitamin/mineral supplement. Spawning occurred monthly over a 7-12 day period prior to the new moon. The fertilised eggs are collected in external nets due to partial flow-though of the recirculation system then harvested either immediately at 2-cell stage or 9-10 hours later at early neurula stage.

6.1.1 Larval growth and survival during the endogenous nutrition phase

Trials for the effect of increased temperature on larvae during the endogenous nutrition phase required spawned eggs to be collected at early neurula stage (4-6 myomers) to prevent mortalities associated with handling eggs at gastrula and late neurula stages. All fertilised eggs were ozone washed (disinfection) prior to transfer to a replicate 300L experimental system. Three temperature treatments were selected at 28°C, 30°C and 32°C in a triplicate randomised design. Fertilised eggs were stocked at 30 per litre in ambient hatchery conditions (27.5°C) before tank temperatures were increased approximately by 0.5°C every 30minutes to desired levels and maintained for the duration of temperature trials. All replicates were sampled at initial hatch then every 300 degree-hours until eye pigmentation was present in all larvae. The presence of eye-pigmentation is a developmental stage prior to the month opening and the requirement for exogenous feeding. Treatment groups were terminated based on developmental stage at sampling intervals to prevent mortalities associated with starvation, as



developmental rates increase with temperature. All larvae were collected at completion of each trial for morphological measurements (total length and yolk sac volume) and percentage survival data. In addition, the effect of increased temperature on hatch rate was assessed after 600 degree-hour (<24hour), after which all larvae were also collected for morphological measurements (total length and yolk sac volume) and percentage survival data. Treatment effect on survival and morphology were tested for significance by analysis of variance.

6.1.2 Sperm activation, fertilisation and egg development

Coral trout males (n=7) were sedated with benzocaine and milt was collected by catheter to assess the effects of increased temperature on sperm activity. A droplet of milt was added to 5ml vials immersed in a temperature bath and activated by addition of seawater (pH 8.1) at each temperature treatment (28°C, 30°C and 32°C). A sample of activated milt was placed on a cavity slide with a coverslip and observed under 400 x magnifications to record activation levels. Observations were recorded immediately after activation (T=0) and again at time intervals until the cessation of >99% of movement. Motility was defined as any visible movement, not necessarily resulting in progressive movement. The intensity was assessed on a relative scale of 0 to 5 (Hogan and Nicholson 1987) as follows:

- 5 Most active sample observed; sperm creating currents
- 4 Very active sample; all sperm progressing rapidly
- 3 Less energetic head and tail movement; most in forward motion
- 2 Slow head and tail movement; some sperm progressing slowly
- 1 Head vibration only
- 0 No activity

All milt samples were activated at each temperature and a replicate sample collected a month later from each male.

The effects of increased temperatures on egg development required harvesting of naturally spawned eggs from external collection nets after spawning and assessing fertilisation rate and developmental stage. Fertilised eggs at the 2-cell stage (30-45 minutes after fertilisation) were selected by pipette using a stereomicroscope and transferred to 70ml vials (50 per replicate) and placed in a temperature block to acclimate to treatment temperature over a 15-25 minute period. Developmental rate and mortality were recorded every 3 hours until late stage embryo



development. A total of 4 temperature treatments (28°C, 30°C, 32°C and 34°C) were selected to establish maximum thermal limit for egg development.

Trials were also conducted on the synergistic effects of increased temperature and ocean acidification on fertilisation and egg development required to strip spawn fish and assess fertilisation rates under controlled environmental conditions. Female fish were selected based on the presence of tertiary (mature) eggs in a catheter sample and given a hormone injection (GnRH) 36 hours prior to strip spawning to induce final maturation of eggs. Viable milt was collected by catheter from running males (<8 hrs prior trial) and stored. 10µl of an equal mixture of milt from 2-3 males was used to fertilise 0.5ml of eggs. Both milt and eggs were incubated at treatment temperature (3 minutes) during dry mixing, after which sperm was activated with seawater of the desired temperature/pH regime. A further incubation of 5 minutes allowed fertilisation to occur before rinsing into larger 70ml vials and transfer to treatment vessels in the heat block. All three temperature and pH regimes (28 °C at pH 8.1; 30 °C at pH 7.8 and 32 °C at pH 7.6) were tested in triplicates. Initially fertilisation rate was counted after 1 hour to differentiate fertilised eggs (multiple cell division). Unfertilised eggs were then removed before development and mortality rates were recorded as per earlier development trial.

6.2 Effects of ocean acidification on larval development and olfactory discrimination

Larval coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) were reared from naturally spawned eggs from captive broodstock at the Northern Fisheries Centre in Cairns, Australia (described in section 6.1). Buoyant fertilized eggs were harvested from incubators, and ozone disinfected prior to stocking at 30 eggs L-1 in larval rearing tanks. Larval rearing included a sequential diet of copepods, rotifers, and *Artemia*. Metamorphosis commenced from 35 days posthatch and coincided with weaning onto a commercial pellet diet.

At approximately 45 days posthatching, juvenile coral trout were transported to James Cook University's experimental aquarium facility in Townsville (50 min by air). One hundred and sixty-six juveniles were randomly assigned to one of 16 replicate 60 L rearing tanks in groups of 10-12 fish per tank. Four tanks were assigned to each of the four CO₂ treatments and continuously diffused with air or CO₂- enriched air as described below. Aerated rearing tanks had no water flow during the day, but were flushed for 40 min each night with clean, filtered, seawater that had been aerated all day with the same concentration of CO₂ as the rearing tanks



(see Munday et al. 2009b for details). Juveniles were fed twice daily with NRD diet (INVE Aquaculture). Tanks were checked daily for any fish mortality. At day 28, after completing behavioural trials, all remaining fish were euthanized, weighed (± 1 mg), and standard length (SL = length from tip of nose to base of tail) measured with a micrometer (± 0.1 mm).

Rearing tanks were continuously diffused with one of four concentration of CO₂ in air: average 397 (unmanipulated air), 550, 750 or 1050 ppm CO₂. Control or CO₂-enriched air was bubbled into each tank at 1.5 l m-1 through a fine-pore airstone. The concentration of CO₂-enriched air for each treatment was controlled by a scientific-grade pressure regulator and precision needle valve and measured continuously with an in-line infrared CO₂ probe (Vaisalla GMT222). Rearing tanks were sealed on top with a clear acrylic lid to limit CO₂ exchange with the atmosphere. The pHNBS in each rearing tank was measured daily with a portable meter (Hach HQ40D) calibrated with fresh buffers (Merck). pH was measured between 7-8am, approximately 12 hours after tanks had been flushed with clean treatment seawater the previous evening. Water temperature was maintained at 28.5°C with electronic heaters. Salinity was measured weekly and total alkalinity was determined weekly by titration. Seawater pCO₂ was estimated in the program CO₂SYS using the constants of Mehrbach et al. (1973) refit by Dickson & Millero (1987). Average pCO₂ was estimated to be 490, 570, 700, and 960 µatm (Table 1), therefore we report values of approximately 450, 550, 750, 1000 µatm. Oxygen levels were checked regularly with an oxygen probe (CellOx 325 WTW, Germany) and were always above 90% saturation. A summer light cycle of 13 h light/ 11 h dark was simulated with fluorescent lights.

Previous experiments have found that the response of juvenile fish to predator odour is dramatically altered after 2-4 days exposure to elevated CO_2 (Dixson et al. 2010, Munday et al. 2010). The response of juvenile coral trout to the odour of a common predator, the rockcod *Cepahalopholis cyanostigma*, was tested after 4 days in treatment and again after 28 days in treatment. This comparison allowed us to test if olfactory responses were affected by elevated CO_2 in a similar way to other species, and if they became acclimated following longer-term CO_2 exposure. A total of 20 fish from each CO_2 treatment (5 from each tank) were tested at each time period. Fish tested at day 4 were returned to their rearing tanks after the flume trials.



The response of juveniles to predator odour was tested in an Atema Flume, a two channel choice flume (13cm x 4cm) described in Gerlach et al. (2007). This apparatus was designed to conduct pair-wise choice experiments, with fish able to freely choose between water flowing from two different sources. Water from the two different sources was gravity fed into the choice flume, which was partitioned along half of its length. A constant flow of 100 ml min-1 per channel was maintained using flow meters (Gerlach et al. 2007). One water source contained seawater with predator odour, the other contained untreated seawater. Water containing the chemical cue of a predator was created by soaking a single C. cyanostigma in 60 l seawater for two hours prior to testing. Both water sources were at the same CO₂ level as the rearing treatment of the fish. At the start of each trial a single fish was released at the downstream end of the flume where it was free to move to either side or swim toward the preferred water source. Each trial consisted of a two-minute acclimation period, followed by a two-minute testing period where the position of the fish, on either the right or left side of the chamber was recoded at five-second intervals. Then, there was a one-minute rest period and the water sources were switched from one side to the other, to ensure a side preference was not being displayed. The two-minute acclimation period and two-minute testing period were then repeated. Dye tests were conducted at each water change to ensure that the two flow channels exhibited parallel water flow with no areas of turbulence or eddies.

6.3 Effects of body size on aerobic scope

The performance of an animal is supported by aerobic scope, which is defined as the difference between oxygen consumption at rest and oxygen consumption at maximal activity. Resting metabolic rate indicates the amount of energy necessary to maintain basic body functions in a non-feeding, non-reproducing and non-motile state and is directly affected by body temperature and typically doubles or triples with a 10°C acute increase in temperature (Farrell 2009). As temperature increases, oxygen consumption in a resting fish therefore increases to meet the demands of higher metabolic rates. However, the capacity to increase oxygen consumption and maximal activity is limited by the oxygen transport limitations of the circulatory system (Clark et al. 2008). As a result, aerobic scope decreases when temperatures exceed optimal conditions (e.g., Munday et al. 2009a).

A total of 32 adult and 16 juvenile *P. leopardus* were collected during April 2012 on reefs within 15km of the Lizard Island Research Station (LIRS) on the Great Barrier Reef, Queensland, Australia (14°41'S, 145°27'E). Adult fish were caught using hand lines with a



single hook and pilchards (*Sardinops neopilchardus*) as bait and their size ranged from 360 to 570mm (total length) or 0.5 to 2.4kg. Juvenile fish were 130 to 210mm long (0.025 to 0.100kg) and were collected on SCUBA using barrier nets and an anaesthetic (clove oil). Upon arrival at the research station, fish were treated in a freshwater bath for two minutes to reduce the risks of skin infection and disease after catching and handling the fish. Each adult received a T-bar anchor tag (Hallprint, Hindmarsh Valley, SA, Australia) for individual identification. As these tags were too large for juvenile trout, elastomer tags injected under the skin were used instead. Adult fish were placed into 2000L plastic tanks, whereas juveniles were kept in 60L plastic tubs. All holding tanks were aerated and connected to the station's flow-through system. The ambient seawater temperature, with which the tanks were filled during the experimental period, was approximately 28.5°C (\pm 1°C). After an acclimation period to captivity for 2 weeks, the temperature in the 'hot' treatment tanks was increased at a rate of 0.5°C per day until 33°C was reached. Fish were fed pilchards every second day to satiation, but starved for a minimum of 48 hours before respirometry trials.

Minimum and maximum metabolic rate were determined using static chambers (respirometers). Metabolic rates were measured at ambient temperature within 3 to 5 days after capture at ambient temperature (28.5°C), as well as after 4 weeks to determine whether captivity was having an effect on metabolic rate. Trials at 33°C were run within 2 to 5 days after the temperature in the holding tanks reached 33°C, which coincided with the 4-week post capture trials at ambient temperature. To measure maximum metabolic rate, each fish was chased for 3 minutes, followed by 60 seconds air exposure and immediately placed into the chambers. Measurements were taken over a 20 to 24 hour period to record metabolic recovery and achieve resting metabolic rates. Background respiration was routinely checked, but undetectable at all times.

Respirometers were custom built of cylindrical PVC pipes to suit the size of the fish (Fig 6.3.1). Large respirometers were 25cm in diameter and approximately 70cm long with a total volume of 29.5 to 31L. Small respirometers for juvenile fish had a diameter of 11cm, were 25cm long and a volume of 2.5L. All respirometers were equipped with a closed circuit recirculation pump ensuring adequate water mixing inside the chamber and an automated flush pump. The flush pump replaced the respirometer water with naturally oxygenated seawater for 3 to 7 minutes, every 10 to 15 minutes. Oxygen consumption was measured between the flush cycles for 5 to 8 minutes. The length of the closed versus flush cycles was adjusted depending on the size of the fish inside the chambers to ensure the dissolved oxygen



inside the chambers never fell below 80% saturation. Dissolved oxygen inside the respirometer was measured continuously using fibre-optic sensors (PyroScience, Aachen, Germany), which were incorporated into the closed loop of the recirculation pump (Fig 6.3.2).



Fig 6.3.1: Custom built large respirometer used for adult fish. The recirculation pump can be seen attached to the respirometer, the flush pump is out of view.



Fig 6.3.2: Fibre-optic sensor attached to glass tube in the recirculation loop measuring dissolved oxygen at a rate of once per second.



6.4 Effects of temperature on aerobic scope

To test the thermal tolerances of *P. leopardus* from the northern and southern GBR, 85 fish were sourced from commercial fishermen at each location in late June / early July 2012 and kept in eight 2000L tanks at 25°C to 26°C at the Marine and Aquaculture Research Facilities Unit (MARFU) at James Cook University. All fish were given a 2-min freshwater bath upon arrival, and two more within the first week to remove any external parasites, combat any signs of fin rot and other transport-related skin irritations and encourage production of the protective mucous layer to reduce risk of further infections and disease. Every individual was measured and weighed and received two unique T-bar anchor tags (Hallprint, Hindmarsh Valley, SA, Australia) for individual identification.

The fish were allowed to settle into the tank environment for 6 to 8 weeks to ensure the majority were weaned onto frozen fish and any compromised fish were eliminated. Fish were fed to satiation 5 to 6 times per week and the amount of food eaten by each fish was recorded. After the acclimation period, the remaining 151 fish were allocated to four temperature treatments with two replicate tanks per temperature: 24°C, 27°C, 30°C and 33°C. Ten fish from each location were placed in each tank, except for the two tanks at 27°C where only 7 or 8 fish per population were left (see experimental design in Fig 6.4.1). The temperature in each tank was slowly increased or decreased by 0.5°C per day until the experimental temperature was reached.

To test the acclimation capacity of the northern and southern populations to the different temperature treatments, minimum and maximum metabolic rates were measured after one week acclimation to 24°C and 30°C, as well as after six weeks to all experimental temperatures. Maximum and minimum metabolic rates were determined using the same static chambers as described in section 6.3. Eight large respirometers were set up in two 1000L oval tanks (similar to set up in Fig 6.4.2) and fitted with fibre-optic sensors (PyroScience, Aachen, Germany) to measure dissolved oxygen inside the chambers. The temperature in the respirometers was controlled to match the experimental temperatures in the holding tanks.

To measure maximum metabolic rate, each fish was chased in a 500L round tub for 3 minutes, followed by a 60 seconds air exposure and immediately placed into the chambers. Measurements were taken over a 20 to 24 hour period to record metabolic recovery and achieve resting metabolic rates. Background respiration was routinely checked, but was found



to be negligible at all times. Fish were given a two-minute freshwater bath after the respirometry trials before being returned into their holding tanks to encourage production of the protective mucous layer after handling. The text files from each fibre-optic probe were imported into LabChart software (ADInstruments, Sydney, Australia).



Fig 6.4.1: Experimental design testing the thermal tolerance of *P. leopardus* from the northern (Princess Charlotte Bay) and southern (Capricorn Bunkers / Swains) GBR. 10 fish from each population were placed into each of two replicate tanks for each temperature.

Tissue sampling

After an acclimation period of eight weeks, the following tissues from the remaining 103 fish were sampled and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen:

- *liver* for gene expression (*LdhB* and *Hsp70*) and liver fat content
- *heart* for ventricular mass
- spleen for Erythropoietin
- *muscle* for cholinesterase activity, potentially gene expression (*Hsp70*)

Blood samples were analysed for haemoglobin concentrations, haematocrit, lactate and glucose.





Fig 6.4.2: Example set up of four large respirometers (approx. 30L) in each of two 1000L oval tanks. Two firesting units with four fibre-optic sensors (PyroScience, Aachen, Germany) were used to measure dissolved oxygen in the respirometers.

6.5 Comparisons of thermal sensitivity among widely separated populations

Prior research on coral reef fishes (albeit relatively small and non-commercial species) has often shown that there are marked differences in thermal sensitivities of geographically separated fish populations (e.g., Gardiner et al. 2010). Populations that are naturally exposed to higher maximum temperatures (e.g., tropical versus temperate species) are likely to have a higher optimal temperature, whereby physiological performance (growth, reproduction, aerobic scope etc.) is greatest at a higher temperature compared to fishes that normally experience lower maximum temperatures. Pörtner and Farrell (2008) argued that thermal windows of fishes are evolved to be as narrow as possible, and should therefore vary spatially with differences in natural thermal regimes. Therefore, we compared coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) collected from reefs off Princess Charlotte Bay (14°S) versus the Capricorn Bunkers / Swains Reefs (23°S). These two locations are separated by 1,200km, and there is a 2.2°C difference in average maximum sea surface temperatures. It was expected therefore, that populations of coral trout from these two regions would exhibit marked differences in their thermal sensitivity (Figure 6.5.1).



Although genetic analyses based on mitochondrial DNA of *P. leopardus* did not show any structure along the GBR (van Herwerden et al. 2009), high levels of local larval retention (Harrison et al. 2012) seem to indicate that gene flow between the northern and southern GBR is probably not very high. We would therefore expect *P. leopardus* of our two locations to at least acclimate, if not adapt, to their local conditions over generations and therefore exhibit marked differences in their thermal sensitivity.



Figure 6.5.1 a) Mean monthly temperatures at 14°S versus 23°S on the Great Barrier Reef, from AIMS temperature loggers. B) Theoretical temperature performance curves for two distinct populations of tropical reef fishes on the Australia's Great Barrier Reef (GBR). Populations from the northern GBR (14°S) are naturally exposed to summer time maxima 2°C higher compared to conspecifics living the southern extent of the GBR (23°S), which is expected to result in higher thermal optima (indicated by the vertical dashed line), if not higher critical maxima (the upper temperatures at which basic metabolic functions can be maintained).



Identifying a single gene to use as a marker for thermal acclimation would be useful for reef managers as a fast and effective way to determine possible perseverance of a species in the face of climate change. Several genes have been evaluated in fishes as a putative means for assessing thermal acclimation, including lactate dehydrogenase-B (*Ldh*-b) and heat shock protein 70 (*Hsp70*).

Ldh-b encodes a tetrameric enzyme (LDH-B) involved in maintaining aerobic metabolism. During normal metabolism, pyruvate is converted to lactate in skeletal muscle by LDH-A (an isoenzyme of LDH-B) and then, in the liver and other tissues, lactate is converted back to pyruvate and glucose by LDH-B, continuing the cycle (Markert et al. 1975). In conditions of high anaerobic activity, poor swimming performance by rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) is correlated with elevations in plasma lactate (Jain and Farrell 2003), illustrating the function of LDH-B and the requirement of adequate expression of the protein. LDH-B, therefore, functions to sustain aerobic activity for extended periods of time in fishes (Powers et al. 1991; Powers and Schulte 1998).

In the tropical fish barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*), southern (cold-adapted) and northern (warm-adapted) populations exposed to normal temperatures or elevated temperatures ($\pm 10^{\circ}$ C, $\pm 5^{\circ}$ C respectively), showed a significant increase in *Ldh-b* expression in all cases (Edmunds et al. 2012). In another fish species, *Fundulus heteroclitus* found along the East Coast of North America, there is an adaptive difference in *Ldh-b* expression between northern (cold-adapted) and southern (warm-adapted) populations: the northern fish express 2-fold more LDH-B in liver even after both populations are acclimated long-term to a common temperature (Crawford and Powers 1989). Schulte et al. (2000) discovered a repressor element upstream of the transcription start site that is present in the southern alleles, but one base pair different in the northern alleles. This repressor allows for variable transcription of *Ldh-b* in the presence /absence of stress conditions in southern fish. In northern fish, however, the modification of just one base pair eliminates repression of the gene, allowing perpetual expression of *Ldh-b*, regardless of stress conditions.

Unfolding of proteins can occur in situations of thermal, physiological or chemical stresses. In response, molecular chaperones called heat shock proteins (*HSPs*) are expressed to protect proteins and help refold them or, when the protein is too damaged, remove it through



proteolysis (Parsell and Lindquist 1993, Hartl 1996, Bukau and Horwich 1998, Morimoto 1998, Frydman 2001). For example, laboratory reared annual killifish, *Austrofundulus limnaeus*, that were maintained at constant temperature were exposed to either natural daily fluctuations in temperature of the wild population or chronically elevated or lowered temperature. For the temperature cycling fish, there was an initial increase in a number of molecular chaperones expressed but their levels returned to baseline after two weeks of cycling. Small HSPs (Hsc70, Hsp22) were strongly induced while the larger HSPs (Hsp70, Hsp90) were only mildly induced. In contrast, the chronically elevated temperature caused a strong induction of Hsp70 and Hsp90 (Podrabsky and Somero 2004), suggesting that these HSPs are required during times of chronic, increased stress to the organism.

In this study, total RNA was extracted from approximately 25ng of liver from 21 individuals using the PerfectPureTM RNA Tissue Kit (5 PRIME) as per manufacturer instructions: six from the northern and five from the southern population exposed to 24°C for two months and four from the northern and six from the southern population exposed to 33°C for two months. Total RNA quality was determined by absorbance readings with a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (Invitrogen Australia Pty) and an RNase-free 1% agarose gel.

After normalising the quantity of RNA based on the NanoDrop readings, lug of each RNA sample was used to synthesise cDNA with iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories) containing a blend of oligo(dT) and random primers. qRT-PCR was performed in triplicate 12µL reactions using 1x SsoFast EvaGreen Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories), 0.3mM forward and reverse primers (Table 1) and 2.5ng cDNA. Primers for Hsp70 and two housekeeping genes, *Ef1a* and *Rpl7*, were designed using 3Prime (Leis et al., 2011) based on conserved regions of relevant fish genes obtained from GenBank. LdhB primers were obtained from Newton et al. (2012). Using the Chromo4 detector (Bio-Rad Laboratories) on a 96-well Thermal Alpha Block (MJ Research), qRT-PCR was performed with the following program: 95°C for 30s, 40 cycles of 95°C for 5s and 56.5°C for 15s. A melting curve was then performed to test for reaction specificity and determine the presence of primer-dimer. A standard curve was generated from five 1:5 serial dilutions of an equal mixture of all cDNA samples and, from this curve, qPCR efficiency was assessed using CFX Manager software (Bio-Rad Laboratories). The qbasePLUSTM software (Biogazelle) was used to validate the housekeeping genes (*Rpl7* and *Ef1a*) and normalise target gene (*LdhB* and *Hsp70*) expression. Fisher's LSD *post hoc* tests were completed where necessary.



6.6 Temperature effects on daily food intake

Throughout the 58 day experimental period, individuals were fed ad-libitum five to six times per week, with ~24g pieces of *Pagrus auratus*, and live *Acanthachromis polyacanthus* (~10g per individual). During every feeding session, the amount and type of food eaten by each individual was recorded.

To standardise for size-differences between individuals, the amount of food eaten by each individual was calculated as a proportion of body-weight (i.e. total grams of food eaten / body-weight in grams * 100). Data on daily food intake was log(x+1) transformed to comply with assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variance for ANOVA (Kolmogorov–Smirnov test on residuals and Levene's test for homogeneity of variance; Meal size: K–Sd = 0.099, P<0.2, Levene's F_{1,117} = 1.216, P = 0.299; Feeding frequency: K–Sd = 0.117, P<0.1, Levene's F_{1,117} = 0.963, P = 0.461; Daily intake: K–Sd = 0.096, P<0.2, Levene's F_{1,123} = 1,478, P = 0.181). Individual differences in meal size and daily intake were then compared between temperatures using a set of 2-way ANOVAs, with temperature and population as the fixed factors. This was followed by post-hoc Tukey for specific differences within and among temperatures and populations. Analyses were restricted to food records obtained after holding tanks had stabilized on the treatment temperature. All data were analysed using SigmaPlot v12 and Statistica v10.0.

6.7 Effects of temperature on spontaneous swimming speeds and activity patterns

A single digital Go-Pro Hero 2 camera was fixed below the water line inside each holding tank, at a height of 110cm above the centre of the bottom. This allowed all individuals swimming near the bottom to be recorded by the camera. To standardise the distance between the camera lens and the test subjects, a central stand pipe was placed in each tank with four vertical arms at 25 cm above the bottom. Only those individuals swimming between these vertical arms and the bottom were included in the analysis.

The activity patterns of test subjects within each holding tank were videotaped for 2-4 hrs per day over a period of 12 days. All video recordings were conducted between 9am and 3pm, thereby focussing strictly on the daily activity patterns of this species. Videos were saved in 720p quality (1280 x 960), MPEG4 H.264 format at 29.971 frames per second.



The spontaneous swimming speeds of randomly chosen test subjects were analysed using Logger Pro v.3.8.6 (Vernier software) and Microsoft Excel. In short, based on the dorsal view of the fish, the x and y coordinates of the geometric centre of one of the eyes of each test subject was manually marked on every 10^{th} frame over no less than 150 frames and exported into Excel for further analysis. This provided a record of the change in the x and y coordinates over a period of no less than 5 seconds. The average rate of spontaneous swimming speed (i.e. the cumulative distance swum in cm per second) was then calculated from the positional (x and y) data relative to a 10cm X 10cm grid drawn across the bottom of treatment tanks.

Resting activity of fishes within each temperature treatment was analysed by counting the number of individuals resting motionless on the bottom at random intervals of each video recording. An average of 336 individual observations (range: 319-376; total: 1345) was conducted within each temperature treatment. Resting patterns were then calculated as the average number of individuals resting on the bottom relative to the total number of fish in each treatment tank.

We used linear mixed effects models fit by restricted maximum likelihood (LME) to compare the spontaneous swimming speeds and activity patterns of individuals within each of the four temperatures (24, 27, 30 and 33°C). Linear mixed models are highly robust to nonindependence of data points obtained on the same individuals and can produce unbiased estimates of variance and covariance (Bolker et al. 2009). Temperature and population (southern or northern) were treated as fixed effects, while holding tank nested within temperature, and observation nested within date, were treated as random effects. To assess the validity of these mixed effects analyses, we performed likelihood ratio tests by comparing the models with fixed effects to the null models with only the random effects. We rejected results in which the model including fixed effects did not differ significantly from the null model. Following square-root transformations on the swimming data and arcsine-sqrt transformation of the resting data, we checked for normality and homogeneity by visual inspections of plots of residuals against fitted values. Significance of main effects were estimated using Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) p-values at $\alpha = 0.05$ (Bates and Maechler 2009). MCMC is robust to the fact that the exact degrees of freedom cannot be calculated in linear mixed model designs (Bates and Maechler 2009). Linear Mixed Model Tukey's were used to examine specific differences within and among temperatures, populations and holding tanks. False



detection rate (FDR) was used to correct for Type I errors following Benjamini and Hochberg (1995).

All data were analysed using SigmaPlot v12 and the R packages *lme4* (Bates and Maechler, 2009), *languageR* (Baayen et al. 2009), *LMERConvenienceFunctions* (Tremblay 2011) and *Multcomp* (Hothorn et al. 2008) (R Development Core Team, v2.15.2, 2012).

6.8 Microhabitat preferences and reliance on corals

A large proportion of coral reef fishes have very specific microhabitat requirements. Jones et al. (2004) suggested that up to 75 % of reef fish species rely on individual coral heads for food, shelter or recruitment substrata. Moreover, both abundance (e.g., Carpenter 1981) and diversity (e.g., Bell and Galzin 1984, Sano et al. 1984, Bouchon-Navaro and Bouchon 1989, Chabanet et al. 1997, Munday 2004) of coral reef fishes is often positively correlated with live coral cover. Declines in live coral cover, reported for many coral reef ecosystems around the world (Gardner et al. 2003, Bellwood et al. 2004, Bruno and Selig 2007,) will therefore affect many species of coral reef fishes (Sano et al. 1987, Jones et al. 2004, Pratchett et al. 2008). Effects of coral loss on fishes are most apparent among highly specialised coraldependent species, including butterflyfishes, damselfishes and gobies (Pratchett et al. 2008). However, some larger, carnivorous species such as coral trout (Plectropomus spp.) also decline in abundance following extensive coral loss (Graham et al. 2007; Russ et al. 2008). On the Great Barrier Reef (GBR), for example, densities of coral trout (*Plectropomus* spp.) declined >20 % following severe coral loss at the Keppel Islands in 2006 (Russ et al. 2008). Mechanisms underlying these effects are unclear because there is little known about specific habitat requirements of such fishes.

In order to test for coral reliance among coral trout, field sampling was conducted at the Keppel Islands (23°10'S, 151°00'E), in the southern section of the Great Barrier Reef (GBR). Patterns of microhabitat use by juvenile (young of the year) coral trout (*Plectropomus maculatus*) were recorded at six different locations; North Keppel, Clam Bay, Halfway Island, Middle Island, Mial Island and Humpy Island (Wen et al. 2013). Four replicate 30-min swims were conducted at each location. For each fish, we recorded the specific microhabitat in which it was initially sighted, considering both the structural microhabitat and the underlying substrate (Wen et al. 2013). Availability of different microhabitat types was quantified using



50-m point-intercept transects following Pratchett et al. (2011b), recording the microhabitat category underlying 100 evenly spaced points along every transect. Four replicate transects were sampled in each of two different habitats (reef flat and reef slope) at each site.

Microhabitat selection was assessed using Manly's standardised selection ratio (B), which estimates the relative probability that a particular microhabitat type would be selected assuming that all microhabitats were equally available (Manly et al. 2010). Selection ratios were calculated for five major microhabitat types; i) *Acropora* on sand, ii) dead coral on sand, iii) *Acropora* on carbonate pavement, iv) dead coral on carbonate pavement, and v) sand or rubble without any structural microhabitat. There were many other distinct microhabitat types that were used infrequently, including macroalgae, or non-Acropora corals, but these were pooled into a single category, termed "other". Selection ratios were calculated separately for each location (North Keppel, Clam Bay, Halfway Island, Middle Island, Mial Island and Humpy Island) and then averaged across locations.



7.0 RESULTS/ DISCUSSION

7.1 Effects of temperature and ocean acidification on larval survival

7.1.1 Larval growth and survival during the endogenous nutrition phase

Survival of larval coral trout was significantly reduced at increased temperatures above 28°C over the endogenous nutrition phase (Figures 7.1.1.1 and 7.1.1.2). The endogenous nutrition phase is the period between the developing embryo and first feeding on live prey items (exogenous feeding). Unlike the exogenous feeding larvae, the yolk-feeding larvae are energetically closed systems, in which energy utilisation is partitioned mainly between energy invested in tissue formation and energy invested in respiration. The survival of larvae at 600 degree-hours and after endogenous nutrition phase was significantly higher (P<0.05) at 28°C compared to increased temperatures and remained comparatively similar (approximately 40%) for both trial periods. While 30°C and 32°C treatments had similarly lower survival rates at 600 degree-hours (Figure 7.1.1.1), higher mortality rates at 32°C after the endogenous nutrition phase resulted in significantly different (P<0.05) survival across all treatments (Figure 7.1.1.2).



Figure 7.1.1.1. Survival rate (%) of coral trout larvae after 600 degree-hours of endogenous nutrition phase at different temperatures.





Figure 7.1.1.2. Survival rate (%) of coral trout larvae after endogenous nutrition phase at different temperatures.

Increased temperature resulted in significantly different (P<0.05) yolk sac volumes at hatching (Time=0 in Figure 7.1.1.3), while not significantly affecting larval size at hatching (Time=0 in Figure 7.1.1.4). The reduction in initial yolk reserves and increased rate of development during egg incubation are indicative of increased metabolic rate due to higher temperatures. Similarly, larger larval size at 28°C by the end of the endogenous phase indicates greater energy availability for somatic growth, while increased temperatures required yolk sac reserves to be used to maintain a higher metabolic rate.



Figure 7.1.1.3. Average yolk sac volume of developing coral trout larvae during the endogenous nutrition phase at different temperatures.




Figure 7.1.1.4. Average total length of developing coral trout larvae during the endogenous nutrition phase at different temperatures.

The higher mortality with increased temperature is likely due to starvation once yolk reserves, principally energy, are expended. Uniform sequential developmental changes occur in serranid larvae during the endogenous nutrition phase. Comparatively *Plectropomus spp* have a smaller total length and yolk volume to many *Epinephelus spp*, and under culture conditions are more susceptible to mortalities associated with starvation. Organogenesis, the rapid development of a digestive system, during the endogenous nutrition is most significant investment in tissue formation, as the requirement for initiating exogenous nutrition is critical. Even under optimal condition for larval development (27°C to 28°C) through the endogenous phase, mortalities result due to starvation if first feeding does not occur within several hours of larval mouth opening. Further potential for reduction of cohorts to survive is likely under these high temperatures, given larvae which develop through exogenous feeding are: significantly smaller; potentially weaker with lower reserves; and have a greater restriction on potential prey items to feed on due to smaller mouth gape.

Marked effects of moderate temperature (e.g, just 2°C above ambient) on early-life history stages of *P. leopardus* do not bode well given project temperature increases of in excess of 4°C by the end of this century (e.g., New et al. 2011). Unless there is acclimation or adaptation to these higher temperatures, reproductive success could decline to <30% of current levels by 2100. However, temperature is an important cue for timing of spawning among the family Serranidae, including *P. leopardus* (e.g., Samoilys 1997). Samoilys (1997)



suggested that *P. leopardus* begin spawning at both absolute temperatures (e.g., >24°C) and rapid increases in temperatures, such that coral trout are likely to respond to ocean warming by spawning occurring earlier in the year. In this way, very early life-stages are unlikely to ever be exposed to devastating temperatures above 32°C, but ongoing research is needed to assess how late-stage larvae and post-settlement juveniles might cope with extreme temperatures experienced during the height of summer.

7.1.2 Sperm activation, fertilisation and egg development

Sperm motility and energy content show rapid decreases after activation in marine fish, therefore progressive forward movement needed to reach the egg surface is limited to a critical period after activation. The strip spawning method ensures optimal conditions to achieve fertilisation, so trials were conducted on the effects of increased temperature on sperm activation levels (Figure 7.1.2.1). A ranking of 3 (less energetic head and tail movement; most with forward motion) and above is considered optimal to achieve fertilisation. At increased temperatures, both 30°C and 32°C, sperm motility decreased more rapidly compared to 28°C. The time for sperm motility remaining above minimal optimal activated at 30°C and 32°C after 180s and 300s, reduced sperm motility may result in lower fertilisation rates compared to 28°C.



Figure 7.1.2.1. Activity levels of coral trout sperm after incubation and activation at different temperatures.

Initial investigation into the effects of increased temperatures on the rate of embryonic development, showed a significant decrease in developmental time with increased temperature. While at 28°C and 30°C hatch rates were similar (92±2% and 95±3.2% respectively), hatch rates at 32°C (66±8%) were significantly lower (P<0.05) and the gastrula stage failed completion at 34°C. In addition, the development of fertilised eggs at 32°C and above showed irregularities in cellular growth, such as differences in cellular size during morula and blastula stages, individual cell death in cellular mass during early developmental stages, and asymmetric margins in blastula and gastrula stages.

The synergistic effects of temperature and pH had no significant effect on fertilisation of coral trout eggs between regimes. While the range of fertilisation rates varied between trials (72%±3.2 to 93.8%±5.1), this was a result of egg quality. Activation of sperm motility in most marine fish, with some exceptions, is controlled by osmotic pressure. Coral trout sperm was successfully activated by seawater in all temperature/pH regimes and no significant effect of decreased pH and increased temperature could be detected on fertilisation rates. However, egg development over time was significantly increased at decreased pH and increased temperature. At 28°C / pH 8.1 hatch rates were similar to 30°C / pH 7.8 (87.8±4.4% and 81.8±7.2%), while hatch rates at 32°C / pH 7.6 (78.3±8.2%) were significantly reduced (P<0.05). Abnormal development and increased mortality rate of eggs and larvae were likely a function of temperature increases rather than decreasing pH, as the differences in mortality rates between treatments were similar to those found investigating temperature effects only.

7.2 Effects of ocean acidification on larval development and olfactory discrimination

The response of juveniles to predator odour differed among CO₂ treatments (Logistic regression: P<0.001), but not between the days of testing (P=1.00). Juveniles reared in control and 550 µatm CO₂ exhibited a strong avoidance of predator odour, spending less than 10% of their time in the water stream containing the odour. In contrast, all of the juveniles reared at 1000 µatm CO₂ exhibited a strong attraction to predator odour, spending over 90% of their time in the water stream containing the odour. For the juveniles reared at 750 µatm CO₂, approximately half exhibited a strong avoidance of the predator odour, whereas the other half exhibited a strong attraction to the odour, as has been observed in previous experiments at similar CO₂ levels (Munday et al. 2010). As a result, the average time spent in the water stream, the predator odour was approximately 47% among fish in this treatment,



however there was a large variation around the mean. There was no difference in the percent time spent in the predator odour when fish were tested at day 28 compared with day 4.

Activity levels and behaviour differed among treatments (ANOVA: P<0.001 for all tests), with the most marked difference occurring in the highest CO₂ treatment. Juvenile coral trout from the control and 550 µatm CO₂ treatments spent over 75% of their time in the shelter during the behavioural trial and there was no difference in shelter use between these two treatments. In contrast, juveniles from the 750 µatm CO₂ treatment spent approximately only 40% of their time in the shelter. Activity level was even more markedly different between treatments. Juveniles from the control and 550 µatm CO₂ treatments had very low activity levels, as expected given their preference to remain in shelter. Juveniles from the 750 µatm CO₂ treatment were nearly 90 times crossed 10 min-1) and juveniles from the 1000 µatm CO₂ treatment were nearly 90 times more active than the lower CO₂ treatment solution (321 versus 3.6 lines crossed 10 min-1). Juveniles from the around the tank continuously and did not remain in shelter for more than a few seconds at a time.

Recent studies have shown that the behaviour and sensory responses of small, territorial reef fishes are altered by permanent exposure to elevated CO_2 for more than a few days. Our results demonstrate that the behaviour and olfactory responses of juvenile coral trout are equally sensitive to the effects of high CO_2 as other reef fish. In fact, the effects on activity levels and risk perception appear to be substantially greater in juvenile coral trout that in other species tested to date. Munday et al. (2010) found that the total distance moved by juvenile damselfishes increased 30% and distance ventured from shelter increased 60-80% following exposure to 850 µatm CO_2 for 4 days. Juvenile coral trout reared for 28 days at a similar level of CO_2 were nearly 90 times more active than controls and ventured 6-7 times as far from shelter. Most notably, coral trout became highly active, moving throughout the test arena and rarely retreating to shelter for more than a few seconds. They also emerged from shelter much sooner after being startled, indicating they were less risk averse than fish reared under current-day conditions.

Although coral trout are one of the most abundant large predators on coral reefs, they are themselves highly vulnerable to predation during early life stages, including from adult



conspecifics (Leis and Carson-Ewart 1999). Juvenile coral trout are naturally highly cryptic, usually remaining hidden in shelter (Leis and Carson-Ewart 1999; Wen et al. 2013). Our results suggest they will become more active and bolder as CO_2 levels increase, substantially increasing their risk of mortality from adult piscivores. Increased juvenile mortality could significantly reduce the number of juveniles that ultimately recruit to adult populations, thereby having a negative effect on adult abundances.

7.3 Effects of body size on aerobic scope

The principal measure of physiological performance used in the experiments was aerobic scope (the difference between the minimum and maximum metabolic rate, measured based on oxygen consumption). A key finding of this work is that aerobic scope in coral trout is strongly size dependent, where body size has a strong negative effect on absolute aerobic scope (Figure 7.3.1). Juvenile *P. leopardus* have a much greater aerobic capacity than adults. It has been suggested previously for temperate salmon that aerobic scope is greatest amongst juvenile fishes and declines with increasing size of adults and during very early development (e.g., Pörtner and Farrell 2008), but this has never been tested for a large tropical marine species. Our results show aerobic scope to be highest in juvenile fish of 0.025-0.100kg (up to 9.5 mg/min/kg), dramatically dropping to less than 50% in adults with a body mass of approximately 0.5kg (4.5 mg/min/kg) and continuing to decline at a lesser rate with increasing body size to 2.5kg (2.5 mg/min/kg) (Figure 7.3.1). Contrary to our expectations and our findings to longer term exposure to 33°C (see section 7.4 and 7.5), aerobic scope did not seem to be affected by an acute (1-week) exposure to 33°C and followed a very similar decline with body mass to the ambient control temperature (28.5°C) (Figure 7.3.1)

This difference in aerobic scope with body mass may reflect the different aerobic challenges faced by coral trout at different points in their ontogeny. Specifically, juvenile coral trout must be capable of high aerobic performance to evade predators and spend considerable energy on growth. Adult *P. leopardus* on the other hand are one of the top predators on the reef with a relatively sessile existence.





Figure 7.3.1. Relationship between aerobic scope (mg min-1 kg-1) and *P. leopardus* body mass (kg) at 28.5°C and 33°C.

At ambient temperature (28.5°C), minimum and maximum metabolic rates were significantly higher in juvenile than in adult coral trout (Figure 7.3.2a), which was also translated into significantly higher absolute aerobic scope (Figure 7.3.2b). Resting metabolic rate increased at 33°C in both juveniles and adults compared to 28.5°C, whereas maximum metabolic rate only increased in adults and remained constant in juveniles. Despite the constant maximum metabolic rate in juveniles across temperatures, the decline in aerobic scope was not significant. Adult aerobic scope remained the same during the acute exposure to 33°C at Lizard Island (Figure 7.3.2).

At this stage it is unclear whether an increased aerobic capacity in juvenile *P. leopardus* translates into higher thermal tolerance. Whilst juveniles have a greater aerobic capacity than adults, they were unable to increase their maximum metabolic rate during the acute exposure to 33°C. The increasing metabolic demands at higher temperatures are likely to come at a cost of less available energy for other critical processes, such as evading predators or growth. Further research is clearly needed to gain a better understanding of the thermal sensitivities at different ontogenetic stages, and how the present results compare to a longer acclimation to elevated temperatures.





Figure 7.3.2. Comparison of Q10-corrected a) minimum and maximum metabolic rates, and b) aerobic scope (mg min-1 kg-1) between juveniles and adults at 28.5°C and acute exposure to 33°C for 1 week.

7.4 Effects of temperature on metabolic rate and aerobic scope

Temperature strongly affects the metabolism of ectotherms and resting metabolic rate is generally expected to double with every acute 10°C temperature increase (Farrell 2009). Similarly, our results showed that resting metabolic rate in *P. leopardus* doubled from 24°C (0.773 mg/min/kg \pm 0.031) to 33°C (1.538 mg/min/kg \pm 0.055) (Figure 7.4.1 a). As a consequence, coral trout need to spend twice as much energy on just maintaining basic body function at the higher temperatures compared to 24°C. *P. leopardus* is able to compensate for this increase in resting metabolic rate by increasing their maximum metabolic rate up to 30°C.

However, at 33°C maximum metabolic rate decreases quite dramatically, reducing their aerobic scope (Figure 7.4.1 b). The ability to compensate for the increasing energy demand to maintain basic body functions by increasing their maximum metabolic rate up to 30°C suggests that the fish are able to spend similar levels of energy on other activities such as digestion, foraging, reproduction etc. At 33°C, this capacity is drastically reduced, which is likely to impair on activities such as reproduction, growth and motility.

Although aerobic scope in this study is maximal at 30°C, it is unlikely to be indicative of the optimal temperature for coral trout. Our data show very clearly that the combined stress of higher temperatures (30°C, and even more so at 33°C) and strenuous physical activity are often lethal in coral trout, although the underlying causes are unclear at this stage (Figure 7.4.2).



P. leopardus resting and maximum metabolic rate







Figure 7.4.1 Box and whisker blots showing median, 25% quartiles and 95% confidence intervals for a) Resting (light blue) and maximum (dark blue) metabolic rate and b) aerobic scope for *P. leopardus* at 24°C, 27°C, 30°C and 33°C. Data is pooled across all fishes from both northern and southern populations.



Figure 7.4.2 Proportional mortality of fishes from each of the four temperature treatments during respirometry trials. Mortality occurred within hours (orange) to days (brown) of being placed into the respirometers for 24 hours, after fish were chased for 3 minutes and air exposed for 1 minute.

Table 7.4.1 Percent survivorship in respirometry trials (mortality occurring within hours and days combined) at 24°C, 27°C, 30°C and 33°C. Swim performance scores (SP) ranked from 1 to 5.5, with 1 being extremely poor, 5.5 being extremely good. The numbers in brackets represent the sample size.

SP	24°C	27°C	30°C	33°C
1	100% (5)	100% (1)	100% (2)	
1.5	100% (16)	100% (7)	100% (10)	100% (7)
2	100% (2)	100% (1)	100% (2)	100% (3)
2.5	100% (4)	100% (2)	100% (5)	
3	100% (1)	100% (3)	100% (3)	100% (1)
3.5	100% (1)	100% (3)		0% (1)
4	100% (5)	100% (4)	60% (5)	0% (2)
4.5	100% (3)	100% (6)	25% (8)	0% (9)
5	100% (2)	100% (4)		0% (3)
5.5		0% (1)		

7.5 Comparisons of thermal sensitivity among widely separated populations

Contrary to expectations, we found no apparent difference in the thermal sensitivities of coral trout from reefs around Princess Charlotte Bay (northern population) versus reefs in the Swains and Capricorn Bunkers (southern population). Comparisons of minimum and maximum metabolic rates and aerobic scope (Figure 7.5.1) at the 4 different treatment



temperatures showed no difference between coral trout sourced from the northern GBR versus the southern GBR. This suggests that these coral trout populations have not acclimated to their local environment and as a result are likely to have a very limited capacity to acclimate to increasing temperatures due to climate change. Although not presented here, limited differences between populations were also apparent based on the range of other metrics considered (blood concentrations of glucose and lactose), though these clearly responded to increasing temperatures.



P. leopardus resting and maximum metabolic rate

Figure 7.5.1 a) Resting and maximum metabolic rate and b) aerobic scope for *P. leopardus* at 24°C, 27°C, 30°C and 33°C from the northern GBR (yellow) and southern GBR (green).

An possible explanation for these findings is that coral trout populations on the GBR are one homogenous well-mixed genetic stock, and therefore strong inter-connectivity (and associated



genetic exchange) among populations at the latitudinal extremes of the GBR, obscures any trans-generational acclimation to local environmental conditions. Accordingly, van Herwerden et al. (2009) found that the entire stock of P. leopardus from northern and southern locations on the GBR were a single homogenous population, but distinct from populations in Western Australia, New Caledonia and Taiwan. However, this study of population structure was based exclusively on a mitochondrial marker (D-loop), known to be relatively conserved over ecological timeframes. Moreover, ecological studies of connectivity, based on patterns of recruitment tend to find that coral trout settle mainly on their natal reefs that would limit connectivity (Harrison et al. 2012) especially at the scale of the latitudinal extent of the GBR. Therefore, genetic samples (fin clips) taken from all fishes used in this study are currently being screened for 11 newly developed microsatellite markers (Harrison et al. 2012), which are expected to show strong differentiation between northern and southern populations. If so, ongoing research is required to understand the physiological basis for limited acclimation capacity within these fishes, while further planning will be needed to potentially reduce reliance on these species within the reef-based commercial fisheries sector.

If upper thermal tolerances are fixed, it is likely that fishes in the northern section of the GBR will be exposed to deleterious effects of high temperatures much sooner than those in the southern sector, in which case we may expect to see a southern contraction of the species throughout the course of this century. However, results from tank-based experiments do not account for increased capacity of adult coral trout to actively (e.g., through specific behaviours) minimise exposure to extreme temperatures in the field. For example, it may be that coral trout adapt to increasing sea surface temperature simply by moving to deeper waters, such that limited tolerance of thermal extremes may influence the depth distribution (and catchability) of coral trout, rather than their distribution and abundance.

Hsp70

During stress, heat shock proteins and their respective genes are upregulated. Our results show that *Hsp70* gene expression was significantly higher in the 33°C heat-stressed fish compared to fish exposed to 24°C in both Northern (1.88 fold) and Southern (2.63 fold) populations. This indicates that in both populations the 33°C treatment was more stressful than the 24°C treatment.



There was no significant difference in Hsp70 expression between populations at either temperature treatment. Although insignificant, the Southern population showed a slight, 0.75 fold increase in Hsp70 expression compared to the Northern fish at the 33 \mathbb{C} heat-stress treatment. This may indicate that the Northern fish were coping fractionally better at this temperature. However, metabolic data indicates that at this temperature there was no difference in performance between populations.

The difference in Hsp70 levels between the temperature treatments was lower than anticipated (Figure 7.5.2). Due to the high mortality at 33 \mathbb{E} , it may be that the animal is too stressed and cellular processes are already declining. In a thermal tolerance threshold model proposed by Pörtner (2001), Hsps likely shift the molecular denaturation temperature to more extreme temperatures. Therefore, at 33 \mathbb{E} , the fish from both locations may have exceeded this molecular denaturation, thus negating the requirement for extensive Hsp production. At lower heat stress conditions (27 or 30 \mathbb{E}) the fish may have higher Hsp70 expression than both the 24C \mathbb{E} C and 33 \mathbb{E} C treatments as the fish are stressed and yet have not reached the molecular denaturation stage. In addition, we may see a greater difference in population responses at these elevated temperatures.







LdhB

LdhB is linked to sustained aerobic activity in fish and we, therefore, would expect an increase in *LdhB* expression with increased aerobic demand at higher temperatures. In our study, *LdhB* expression showed high variation among individuals within each treatment. While there were significant higher (1.01 fold increase) expression of *LdhB* at 33 \mathbb{C} compared to 24 \mathbb{E} for the Northern population, but not for the Southern population (0.66 fold increase), there was no difference in expression of *LdhB* at 33 \mathbb{E} between fishes from the Southern or Northern population. These result are however, very preliminary, and a large number of genes are currently being screened for their applicability in assessing thermal tolerance across disparate populations of *P. leopardus* and other reef fish. Analyses of the intermediate temperature treatments used in our experiments (27°c and 30°c) may also clarify whether fish at 33°c have already reached a state of denaturation.



Figure 7.5.3. Relative expression of *LdhB* for northern and southern *P. leopardus* populations kept for 8 weeks at 24° C and 33° C

7.6 Temperature effects on daily food intake

Despite apparent increases in the resting metabolic rates of *P. leopardus* over the range of temperatures used in these experiments (Figure 7.5.1a), we did not observe a corresponding



increase in meal size, but feeding frequency did increase. Average meal sizes ranged from 4.8 \pm 0.3% of body-weight at 24°C to 5.68 \pm 0.3% at 33°C (mean \pm S.E.), but did not change significantly across temperature treatments (F_{3,117} = 1.48, p = 0.22, Figure 7.6.1). Elevated temperatures caused a significant increase in feeding frequency (F_{3,117}=17.79, p <0.01, Figure 7.6.2). On average, individuals ate every 2.4 \pm 0.2 days at 33°C, compared to every 2.5 \pm 0.2 days at 30°C, every 2.7 \pm 0.3 days at 27°C, and every 3.8 \pm 0.3 days at 24°C (mean \pm S.E.). Overall food intake increased significantly with increasing temperatures (F_{3,123} = 11.0, p < 0.01), with no detectable difference between populations (F_{1,123} = 0.1, p = 0.80, Figures 3a,b). The greatest daily food intake was found at 33°C, 30°C and 27°C, while food intake at 24°C was significantly reduced (Figure 3a, Table 1). Individuals ate 2.6 \pm 0.1% of their bodyweight each day at 33°C, compared to 2.3 \pm 0.2% at 30°C, 2.2 \pm 0.2% at 27°C, and just 1.4 \pm 0.1% at 24°C (mean \pm S.E.).

Between populations, there was a significant difference in meal-size ($F_{1,117} = 5.06$, p = 0.03), but no detectable difference between in feeding frequency ($F_{1,117} = 0.09$, p = 0.76, Figure 2b). Individuals in the northern population ate $5.6 \pm 0.2\%$ of body-weight per meal, compared to $5.0 \pm 0.2\%$ in the southern population (mean \pm S.E., $n_{North} = 61$, $n_{South} = 67$, Figure 1b). At 33°C, overall food intake was significantly higher for the northern population, suggesting that there may be some capacity for fishes from northern waters to compensate for increasing metabolic demands associated with global warming, relative to fishes from the southern GBR.





Figure 7.6.1. Average meal size of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) across four temperature treatments. Values are in % body-weight and error bars are standard error of the mean. Significant differences are shown above each column. Top graph **a**) shows the average meal size at each temperature pooled across all individuals. Bottom graph **b**) shows the average meal size of each population at each temperature treatment.



Figure 7.6.2. Feeding frequency of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) across four temperature treatments. Values are in "days" and error bars are standard error of the mean. Significant differences are shown above each column. Top graph **a**) shows the average number of days between each meal at each temperature pooled across all individuals. Bottom graph **b**) shows the average number of days between of days between each meal for each population at each temperature treatment.



Figure 7.6.3. Average daily food intake of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) across four temperature treatments. Values are in % body-weight and error bars are standard error of the mean. Significant differences are shown above each column. Top graph **a**) shows the average daily food intake at each temperature pooled across all individuals. Bottom graph **b**) shows the average daily food intake of each population at each temperature treatment.

Table 7.6.1. Differences in daily food intake between four temperature treatments for coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*). Significant differences are marked in bold.

Post-hoc Tukey HSD					
Temperature (°C)	24	27	30		
27	0.001				
30	0.000	0.999			
33	0.000	0.949	0.901		



7.7 Effects of temperature on swimming and activity patterns of coral trout

Spontaneous swimming speeds changed significantly across temperatures ($F_{3,257} = 23.4$, p < 0.01, Figure 7.7.1, Table 7.7.1). The lowest swimming speeds were recorded at the highest temperature (33°C), while the fastest swimming speeds were recorded at 27°C (Figure 1a). On average, swimming speeds were 13.8 ± 0.7 cms⁻¹ at 33°C, compared to 17.3 ± 0.8 cms⁻¹ at 30°C, 23.4 ± 0.8 cms⁻¹ at 27°C, and 20.5 ± 0.7 cms⁻¹ at 24°C ($n_{33} = 86$, $n_{30} = 75$, $n_{27} = 80$, $n_{24} = 130$, mean \pm S.E.). There was a significant interaction between temperature treatment and population swimming speeds ($F_{6,257} = 2.7$, p = 0.01), however population swimming speeds did not differ within individual temperatures (Figure 7.7.1, Table 7.7.1). There was also a significant interaction between holding tank and population swimming speeds ($F_{2,257} = 4.6$, p = 0.01), however population swimming tanks (Table 7.7.2).

The proportion of time individuals spent resting motionless on the bottom increased significantly with increasing temperatures ($F_{3,1137} = 23.2$, p < 0.01, Figure 2a). On average, individuals spent 19.8 ± 0.3% of the time resting at 33°C, compared to 13.4 ± 0.2% at 30°C, 10.5 ± 0.3% at 27°C, and 9.3 ± 0.3% at 24°C (mean ± S.E.). There was a significant interaction between treatment temperature and holding tank ($F_{3,1337} = 15.7$, p < 0.01), with significant differences in time spent resting between holding tanks at 33°C (z = 8.0, p < 0.01; Figure 2b).

GLMM Tukey (temperature x population)				
Comparison	Z value	P value		
27N - 24N	0.35	0.760		
30N - 24N	2.73	0.017		
33N - 24N	3.64	0.001		
30N – 27N	1.92	0.094		
33N – 27N	2.51	0.028		
33N - 30N	0.57	0.640		
27S - 24S	1.98	0.085		
30S - 24S	1.97	0.085		
33S - 24S	2.59	0.023		
30S - 27S	3.66	0.001		
33S - 27S	4.23	0.000		
33S - 30S	0.43	0.716		
24S - 24N	1.60	0.171		
27S – 27N	1.43	0.226		
30S - 30N	0.18	0.870		

Table 7.7.1. Post-hoc analysis of the interaction between ambient temperature and the swimming speeds of two populations of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*). The labels (e.g. 27N-24N) denote the temperature and the population (northern or southern). Significant differences are marked in bold.





Figure 7.7.1. Spontaneous swimming speeds of two populations of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) across four different temperatures. Swimming speeds are in cm per second (\pm S.E.). Top graph **a**) shows average swimming speeds pooled across populations with significant differences between temperatures marked. Bottom graph **b**) shows average swimming speeds within each population.



Figure 7.7.2. The proportion of time coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) spends resting on the bottom across four ambient temperatures. Top graph **a**) shows average resting patterns pooled across treatment tanks with significant differences marked. Bottom graph **b**) shows resting patterns within each treatment tank. An asterisk marks significant differences between treatment tanks within each temperature.

Table 7.7.2. Post-hoc analysis of the interaction between treatment tank and the swimming speeds of two populations of coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*). The labels (e.g. 1S-1N) denote the treatment tank and the population (Northern or Southern).

GLMM Tukey	y (treatment	t tank x					
population)							
Comparison	Z value	P value					
1S – 1N	1.60	0.200					
2S-2N	0.89	0.466					
2N - 1N	0.15	0.941					
2S - 1S	1.68	0.200					

7.8 Microhabitat preferences and reliance on corals

Patterns of microhabitat use were documented for a total of 212 juvenile coral trout. Approximately 60% of all fishes (127/ 212) were found associated with *Acropora* corals situated on loose substrates (e.g., sand), even though this specific microhabitat accounted for only 12.8% of benthic cover. By comparison, 41 fishes were found associated with macroalgae and non-*Acropora* corals, which covered for 43.8% of the substrate. The selection for *Acropora* on sand was very pronounced and also very consistent (B>0.5) across locations. Most notably, selection for *Acropora* on sand was 7 times that of *Acropora* on carbonate pavement and twice that of dead branching corals on sand (Figure 7.8.1).





Figure 7.8.1. Frequency of use of different compound microhabitats by recruits (young of the year) for three carnivorous fishes (including *Plectropomus maculatus*) in the Keppel Islands, southern Great Barrier Reef.

This study revealed strong association with specific microhabitats for P. maculatus, as well as two other piscivorous fishes, *Lutjanus carponotatus* and *Epinephelus quoyanus*. Large predatory fishes form a significant part of the global catch in commercial, recreational and subsistence reef fisheries (Worm et al. 2005, Pauly 2008), and a large proportion of such species are overexploited (Myers and Worm 2003, 2005). The ecological and life history characteristics of predatory fishes, including low natural abundance, long life-span, slow growth and low recruitment rates are clearly factors that contribute to their susceptibility to overfishing (e.g., Musick 1999). However, degradation of reef habitats and declines in the availability of specific microhabitats are increasingly putting added pressure on larger predatory reef fishes (Graham et al. 2007, Wilson et al. 2010b; Pratchett et al. 2011).



The extent to which species may be able to adapt to changes in resource availability and habitat structure depends on their ecological versatility. Highly specialised species, such coral feeding butterflyfish are obligately dependent on specific types of corals and loss of these corals will inevitably lead to localised extinctions (Pratchett et al. 2008). However, fishes that use a wide range of different resources or are capable of switching their patterns of resource use may be able to withstand extensive coral loss (Pratchett et al. 2004). While all predatory fishes considered in this study used specific microhabitats disproportionately to their availability, the range of microhabitats used by each species of fish was very extensive. There were for example, a small number of fishes from all life stages across all three species that were found living among macroalgae or in open areas of loose substrates with no major structural habitat. Variation in growth and survivorship of fishes associated with preferred versus non-preferred habitats needs to be quantified in order to assess the long-term consequences of coral loss and habitat degradation. However, it is very likely that declines in availability of specific microhabitats (especially those used by recruits) may explain declines in the abundance of predatory fishes following extensive coral loss (Graham et al. 2007; Russ et al. 2008). Notably, this research was conducted on an inshore reef, where the dominant coral trout species was P. maculatus. Similar research is still required to assess microhabitat requirements (especially at settlement) for P. leopardus, which is the major target species of commercial reef line fisheries.



8.0 BENEFITS AND ADOPTION

There has been significant recent research into effects of climate change on coral reef fishes, either documenting the changes in abundance or fitness of fishes following climate-related disturbances (reviewed by Wilson et al. 2006; Pratchett et al. 2008), or experimentally assessing direct effects of increasing temperature (e.g., Nilsson et al. 2009; Gardiner et al. 2010; Johansen and Jones 2011; Donelson et al. 2011) or ocean acidification (e.g., Munday et al. 2009) on individual, and mostly small bodied reef fishes. While there remain many crucial knowledge gaps (Wilson et al. 2010) this body of research points to three distinct effects of climate change on reef fishes, which will vary greatly in the timing of expected occurrence. First and foremost, climate change indirectly affects coral reef fishes by exacerbating declines in the quality and quantity of benthic habitats. These effects of climate change are already very apparent. In 1998, for example, climate induced coral bleaching caused extensive (45%) coral loss across the Indian Ocean, leading to declines in diversity and abundance of coral reef fishes (Graham et al. 2006). Secondly, projected increases in the temperature of shallow ocean waters will have direct effects on the physiology and performance of reef fishes. Many reef fishes appear to be living very close to their optimal temperatures, such that even small increases in temperature could have significant ramifications. Mostly however, small increases in temperature will have sub-lethal effects (e.g., changes in movement patterns, feeding, growth and reproduction) and these effects may be offset by distributional shifts, as well as behavioural or physiological acclimation (Donelson et al. 2011). The third and final effect of climate change on reef fishes relates to direct effects of increasing CO₂ concentration, and associated declines in ocean pH (ocean acidification). Elevated levels of CO₂ will impose physiological costs on fishes similar to increases in temperature (Munday et al. 2012). Of greatest concern however, are observed changes in the sensory discrimination and behaviour of fishes subject to elevated CO₂ (Munday et al. 2009, 2010). Still, significant effects of ocean acidification are only apparent at levels of pCO₂ above 700, which is not expected to occur until the end of the century.

Results from this study represent the first explicit tests on the effects of climate change on a large, commercially important reef fish species. As for other smaller reef fishes, coral trout *Plectropomus* spp. are clearly sensitive to i) climate-induced habitat degradation (specifically, the loss of complex corals used at settlement), ii) direct effects of temperature on reproduction, growth, development and metabolic costs, and iii) direct effects of ocean



acidification, especially in relation to olfactory discrimination. These findings indicate the critical importance of minimising ongoing greenhouse gas emissions as a critical step towards minimising extreme effects of global climate change on both ecological and economic benefits arising from corals reefs. Beyond that, this research shows increasing temperatures are likely to have a significant effect on the timing of spawning activities. In order to limit exposure of early life-stages (e.g., newly fertilised eggs) to devastating effects of extreme summer temperatures there is likely to be strong selective pressure for spawning to occur earlier in the year (see section 7.1). If so, this will require explicit changes to current temporary closures intended to protect spawning populations at the start of the austral summer. Also, current data suggests that the effects of climate change on coral trout (*Plectropomus* spp.) will be most pronounced in the northern Great Barrier Reef. Importantly, we found little or no differences in the thermal sensitivities of coral trout from northern versus southern populations. Rather, there was an absolute temperature threshold (approximately 30°C), above which, the individual condition and fitness of fishes was compromised. Given absolute temperatures are already highest in the northern Great Barrier Reef (e.g., Hughes et al. 2012), negative effects of high temperatures on *Plectropomus* spp. are likely to be first and worst felt in these northern populations. If so, northern-most populations of *Plectropomus* may require greater protection from fisheries, explicitly recognising differential effects of climate change along the length of the GBR. This provides additional incentive for implementing differential management plans within different latitudinal sectors, which is already being considered by the Queensland Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, owing to price differentials along the length of the GBR. For commercial fishermen the ability to move between latitudinal sectors is considered critical for enhancing adaptive capacity to localised disturbances, such as cyclones (Tobin et al. 2010), and so any further restrictions to fishing effort that are applied disproportionately in the northern GBR must also consider alternative adaptation strategies for fishers in the event of further localised disturbances.

Adaptation policy, planning, and action are key steps towards identifying, assessing, implementing, and monitoring responses to disturbance, in this case climate change (Pecl et al. 2009). Impact assessments typically measure and project the risk and opportunity associated with climate change trends (e.g., Hoegh-Guldberg et al. 2007, Munday et al. 2008, Pratchett et al. 2008). As outlined above, climate change effects on coral trout include changes in distribution, abundance, growth, and behaviour, which may significantly influence availability, catchability, and predictability of catches for diverse fisheries associated with this



resource (e.g., commercial fisheries, recreational fisheries, indigenous fisheries, and charter fisheries). Vulnerability and risk assessments are thus required to allow scientists, managers and industry to consider what such outcomes, individually and in combination, might mean for ecosystems and people, and to identify appropriate adaptation responses (e.g., Johnson and Marshall 2007). However, to-date, few decision-support tools support nuanced, place-based appraisal of adaptation options to evaluate their potential to effectively and equitably deliver positive outcomes for social and ecological systems (but see Pecl et al. 2009, Bell et al. 2011). Prior research into adaptation and adaptive capacity has highlighted the importance of context and scale in determining adaptation outcomes. Impacts, responses, and outcomes are typically location specific, depending on how global climate change manifests at regional and local scales and on the vulnerability of the regional, national, and local contexts to these changes (e.g., Allison et al. 2009). Similarly, while resource-dependent sectors are particularly vulnerable to changing environmental conditions, this is mediated by their location, their dependency on particular resources and environments, and the aggregate capacity of operators to cope with change. For instance, adaptation options available to the fishing sectors based in the northern GBR may differ compared with those in the south. Within regions, individual operators will exhibit differing capacities for adaptation, depending on, for instance, their perception of risk, their capacity to plan, learn and change, their proximity to thresholds of coping, and their level of interest in adapting to change (Marshall and Marshall 2007). Thus, one-size-fits-all adaptation solutions will rarely suit everyone and adaptation planning needs to account for context and scale.

The adaptive capacity of different fisheries sectors on the GBR is generally highest amongst recreational and charter sectors, and lowest for commercial fisheries (Tobin et al. 2010). It is imperative therefore, that increased research be undertaken to directly assess adaptation options within the commercial fisheries sector, whereby any changes in the productivity, abundance or profitability of wild fisheries for coral trout (and especially *P. leopardus*) will have significant impacts within this industry. Alternative adaptation options that must be considered include those that i) reduce exposure (e.g., increase efficiencies within fisheries practices), ii) reduce sensitivity (e.g., diversify catch and product), or iii) enhance adaptive capacity (e.g., diversify livelihoods and economic opportunities). Given the likely sensitivity of coral trout to increasing temperature, all possible adaptation options must be considered. A key limitation however, is that we are whether alternative fishery species (e.g., red throat emperor) are equally sensitive to projected changes in environmental conditions.



9.0 FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

Results of our preliminary research suggest that there is limited acclimation to local temperature regimes apparent among wild populations of coral trout. This is based on the seeming lack of any differences in the thermal tolerances/ sensitivities of P. leopardus from northern versus southern populations, the next step is to test whether the same is true for other large carnivorous reef fishes. This is important because it establishes the generality of our detailed findings for P. leopardus, and if there are alternative species that are expected to be more tolerant of increasing temperatures, then these species may be important in sustaining ongoing commercial fisheries. We compared the aerobic scope of a total of 11 different species (including P. leopardus) caught opportunistically on reefs around Lizard Island (Figure 9.1). These preliminary data suggest that fishes from the family Lutjanidae (L. russelli and L. carponotatus) had significantly higher aerobic scope. This suggests, but does not prove, that the Lutjanidae could be much more tolerant of increasing temperatures, but this will need to be confirmed using experimental tests of changes in physiology and behaviour across a range of temperatures (as was conducted for P. leopardus). Unfortunately, we were not able to catch sufficient numbers of other *Plectropomus* species to test if all species (e.g., P. laevis and P. maculatus) have aerobic scope equivalent to that of P. leopardus, but this remains an important research question.

Further tests of interspecific differences in tolerances of increasing temperatures were conducted based on estimates of critical thermal maxima (CTmax), defined as the non-lethal limit to dynamic exposure, assumed to approximate the maximum temperature that fishes can withstand short-term (Elliott and Elliott 1995). CTmax has been criticised in the past as a method for distinguishing thermal tolerances of fishes because no clear difference could be found between CTmax of fishes from tropical versus temperate environments. However, it is increasingly apparent that CTmax varies within and among species, and may be used to infer relative (rather than absolute) thermal tolerances. It is also still unclear to what extent the CTmax correlates with optimum temperature, which is more important for the distribution and abundance of fishes.





Figure 9.1 Inter-specific differences in the minimum and maximum rate of oxygen consumption (measured by placing fishes into respirometers for 24 hours after a chase for 3 minutes). Data was collected at Lizard Island.

In these experiments, temperature was increased manually by 0.5° C every 5 minutes to ensure a constant rate and is the equivalent of 0.1° C/minute or 6° C/hour. Between 1 and 23 individuals were tested for each of 21 different species, and CTmax varied very little among individuals within species (Figure 9.2). These data indicate (as suggested previously) that *Plectropomus* and *Lethrinus* species (only 1 species of *Lethrinus* tested though) have the lowest capacity to withstand direct exposure to increasing temperature. Based on CTmax, we found that *P. laevis* and *P. maculatus* were very similar to *P. leopardus*, but inter-specific differences in thermal sensitivities need to be much more carefully studied within this group. The species with greatest CTmax were in general the Lutjanidae, while Serranidae exhibited marked interspecific differences in CTmax (Figure 9.2).





Figure 9.2 Inter-specific differences in CTmax for fishes caught around Lizard Island, northern Great Barrier Reef. Numbers in brackets indicate the number of fishes tested for each species. Where >1 individual per species was tested, the mean (\pm SE) temperature at which individuals lost equilibrium is displayed.

Testing the generality of our recent findings (on the sensitivity of *Plectropomus* spp. to climate change) amongst other commercial fisheries is a key priority for future research. However, it is also clear that we have do not fully understand the differential effects of climate change (e.g., habitat degradation, increasing temperature and ocean acidification) on all aspects of the biology and at different stages in the life-history of *Plectropomus* spp. In particular, we are unclear if, or how, coral trout may adapt to changing environmental conditions. If for example, the timing of spawning is linked to local temperatures, then *P. leopardus* will probably spawn earlier in warmer years and thereby limit exposure of newly fertilised eggs to temperatures $>30^{\circ}$ C (see section 7.1.1). It is likely however, that late stage larvae will still be exposed to extreme temperatures at the height of summer, and we have not as yet tested how these 30+ day old fishes will cope with temperatures, either going into deeper water or minimising feeding and movement (section 7.7), which is nonetheless



important because it will lead to lower catches, and may require changes in standard fisheries practices in order to maintain productivity and profitability within the commercial sector.



10.0 PLANNED OUTCOMES

Global climate change is an important emerging threat to the productivity of marine fisheries (Bell et al. 2013) and there is widespread recognition that fisheries plans must increasingly consider the effects of climate change. Focus areas for Australia's National Climate Change and Fisheries Action Plan 2009-2012 are to "improve understanding and awareness of climate change impacts on fisheries", and "facilitate ongoing assessment and monitoring of climate change impacts at suitable scales". To this end, the current project has provided important new information on the potential effects of climate change on coral trout (*Plectropomus* spp.), which support significant commercial and recreational fishery activities. Most notably, this project identifies specific thresholds (e.g., absolute temperatures) for important effects on reproduction, growth, development, and survivorship. This provides an explicit focus for ongoing environmental monitoring throughout the known distribution of these species (mainly, P. leopardus) to assess if and when individual thresholds are likely to be reached. Many of the major direct effects of climate change on coral reef fishes (e.g., declines in settlement success due to ocean acidification) are not likely to be felt for several years or decades, but potential effects must be considered as soon as possible in order to maximise potential adaptation options for both the fishes and fisheries.



11.0 CONCLUSIONS

Results of this research clearly indicate that coral trout (mainly, P. leopardus) are vulnerable to global climate change. *Plectropomus* spp. will be affected by climate change in three main ways; i) increasing temperature of shallow tropical waters will begin to exceed optimal temperatures, leading to declines in growth and development, and potentially causing increased disease prevalence, ii) declining pH will interfere with sensory abilities and modify behaviour, potentially reducing juvenile survival, and iii) increasing loss of live coral habitats used at settlement will reduce the abundance and survival of new recruits. It is likely therefore, that ongoing climate change will significantly undermine the sustainability of current reef-based fisheries, providing a strong imperative for new improved management of these stocks. As such, we advocate for immediate consideration of different adaptation options that could be used to reduce exposure, reduce sensitivity, and/ or enhance adaptive capacity within each of four distinct fisheries sectors; i) commercial, ii) recreational, iii) charter, and iv) indigenous fisheries. While some adaptation options, such as increased stewardship, will have beneficial effects across all fisheries sectors, most adaptation options will have disproportionate benefits for specific sectors. Future management structures need to account for the effects of climate change of fisheries stocks, but selection of optimal adaptation options requires careful consideration of ecological, economic and societal priorities.



12.0 REFERENCES

- Adams S (2003) Morphological ontogeny of the gonad of three plectropomid species through sex differentiation and transition. *Journal of Fish Biology* 63: 22-36.
- Allison EH, Perry AL, Badjeck MC, Adger WN, Brown K, Conway D, Halls AS, Pilling GM, Reynolds JD, Andrew NL, Dulvy NK (2009) Vulnerability of national economies to the impacts of climate change on fisheries. *Fish and Fisheries* 10: 173-196.
- Almany GR (2003) Priority effects in coral reef fish communities. Ecology 84: 1920-1935.
- Atema J, Kingsford MJ, Gerlach G (2002) Larval reef fish could use odour for detection, retention and orientation to reefs. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 241: 151-160.
- Beets J, Hixon MA (1994) Distribution, persistence, and growth of groupers (Pisces: Serranidae) on artificial and natural patch reefs in the Virgin Islands. *Bulletin of Marine Science* 55: 2-3.
- Beitinger TL, Bennett WA, McCauley RW (2000) Temperature tolerances of North American freshwater fishes exposed to dynamic changes in temperature. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 58: 237-275.
- Bell JD, Galzin R (1984) Influence of live coral cover on coral-reef fish communies. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series* 15: 265-274.
- Bell JB, Johnson JE, Hobday AJ (2011) *Vulnerability of tropical Pacific fisheries and aquaculture to climate change*. Secretariat of the Pacific Community, Noumea, New Caledonia.
- Bell JB, Ganachaud A. Gehrke PC, Griffiths SP, Hobday AJ, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jonhson JE, Le Borgne R, Lehodey P, Lough, JM, Matear RJ, Pickering TD, Pratchett MS, Sen Gupta A, Senina I, Waycott M (2013) Tropical Pacific fisheries and aquaculture have mixed responses to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* DOI: 10.1038/NCLIMATE1838
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nystrom M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. *Nature* 429: 827-833.
- Bolker BM, Brooks ME, Clark CJ, Geange SW, Poulsen JR, Stevens MHH, White JSS (2009) Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 24: 127-135.
- Bouchon-Navaro Y, Bouchon C (1989) Correlations between chaetodontid fishes and coral communities of the Gulf of Aqaba (Red Sea). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 25: 47-60.
- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: Timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. *PLoS ONE* 2: 711.
- Bukau B, Horwich AL (1998). The Hsp70 and Hsp60 chaperone machines. Cell 92: 351-366.
- Carpenter R (1981) Grazing by *Diadema antillarum* (Philippi) and its effects on the benthic algal community. *Journal of Marine Research* 39: 749-765.
- Chabanet P, Ralambondrainy H, Amanieu M, Faure G, Galzin R (1997) Relationships between coral reef substrata and fish. *Coral Reefs* 16: 93-102.



- Claiborne JB, Edwards SL, Morrison-Shetlar AI (2002) Acid–base regulation in fishes: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 293: 302-319.
- Clark TD, Sandblom E, Cox GK, Hinch SG, Farrell AP (2008) Circulatory limits to oxygen supply during an acute temperature increase in the Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 295: R1631-R1639.
- Cooley SR, Doney SC (2009) Anticipating ocean acidification's economic consequences for commercial fisheries. *Environmental Research Letters* 4: 024007.
- Crawford DL, Powers DA (1989) Molecular basis of evolutionary adaptation at the Lactate Dehydrogenase-B Locus in the fish *Fundulus heteroclitus*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* 86: 9365-9369.
- Deutsch CA, Tewksbury JJ, Huey RB, Sheldon KS, Ghalambor CK, Haak DC, Martin PR (2008) Impacts of climate warming on terrestrial ectotherms across latitude. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105: 6668-6672.
- Dickson AG, Millero FJ (1987) A comparison of the equilibrium constants for the dissociation of carbonic acid in seawater media. *Deep-Sea Res Part A* 34: 1733–1743.
- Dixson DL, Munday PL, Jones GP (2010) Ocean acidification disrupts the innate ability of fish to detect predator olfactory cues. *Ecology Letters* 13: 68-75.
- Donelson JM, Munday PL, McCormick MI, Nilsson GE (2011) Acclimation to predicted ocean warming through developmental plasticity in a tropical reef fish. *Global Change Biology* 17: 1712-1719.
- Doney SC, Fabry VJ, Feely RA, Kleypas JA (2009) Ocean acidification: The other CO₂ problem. *Annual Review of Marine Science* 1: 169-192.
- Edmunds RCER, van Herwerden L, Fulton CJ (2010) Population-specific locomotor phenotypes are displayed by barramundi, *Lates calcarifer*, in response to thermal stress. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 67: 1068-1074.
- Edmunds RC, Smith-Keune C, van Herwerden L, Fulton CJ, Jerry DR (2012) Exposing local adaptation: synergistic stressors elicit population-specific lactate dehydrogenase-B (ldh-b) expression profiles in Australian barramundi, *Lates calcarifer. Aquatic Sciences* 74: 171-178.
- Elliott JM, Elliott JA (1995) The effect of the rate of temperature increase on the critical thermal maximum for part of Atlantic salmon and brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology* 47:917-919
- Eliason EJ, Clark TD, Hague MJ, Hanson LM, Gallagher ZS, Jeffries KM, Gale MK, Patterson DA, Hinch SG, Farrell AP (2011) Differences in thermal tolerance among sockeye salmon populations. *Science* 332: 109-112.
- Fabry VJ, Seibel BA, Feely RA, Orr JC (2008) Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 65:414–432.
- Farrell AP (2009) Environment, antecedents and climate change: lessons from the study of temperature physiology and river migration of salmonids. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 212: 3771-3780.
- Feldhaus JW, Heppell SA, Li H, Mesa MG (2010) A physiological approach to quantifying thermal habitat quality for Redband Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss gairdneri*) in the south Fork John Day River, Oregon. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 87: 277-290.



- Frydman J (2001) Folding of newly translated proteins *in vivo*: The role of molecular chaperones. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 70: 603-647.
- Gardiner NM, Munday PL, Nilsson GE (2010) Counter-gradient variation in respiratory performance of coral reef fishes at elevated temperatures. *PloS one* 5: e13299.
- Gardner TA, Côté IM, Gill JA, Grant A, Watkinson AR (2003) Long-term region-wide declines in Caribbean corals. *Science* 301: 958
- Gamperl AK, Rodnick KJ, Faust HA, Venn, EC, Bennett MT, Crawshaw LI, Keeley ER, Powell MS, Li HW (2002) Metabolism, swimming performance, and tissue biochemistry of high desert redband trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss* ssp.): Evidence for phenotypic differences in physiological function. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 75: 413-431.
- Gerlach G, Atema J, Kingsford MJ, Black KP, Miller-Sims V (2007) Smelling home can prevent dispersal of reef fish larvae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *USA* 104: 858-863.
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103:8425-8429
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson JAN, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag effects in the impacts of mass coral bleaching on coral reef fish, fisheries, and ecosystems. *Conservation Biology* 21: 1291-1300
- Halford A, Cheal AJ, Ryan D, Williams DMcB (2004) Resilience to large-scale disturbance in coral and fish assemblages on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Ecology* 85: 1892-1905.
- Harrison HB, Williamson DH, Evans RD, Almany GR, Thorrold SR, Russ GR, Feldheim KA, van Heerwerden L, Planes S, Srinivasan M, Berumen ML, Jones GP (2012) Larval export from marine reserves and the recruitment benefit for fish and fisheries. *Current Biology* 22: 1023-1028.
- Hartl FU (1996). Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. Nature 381: 571-580.
- Heisler N (1989) Acid-base regulation in fishes; 1. Mechanisms. In R Morris (ed.) Acid toxicity and aquatic animals, Cambridge University Press, pp. 85-97.
- Hochachka PW, Somero GN (2002) Biochemical Adaptation. Mechanisms and Processes in Physiological Evolution. Oxford Undiversity Press, New York
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten AJ, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards AJ, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R, Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. *Science* 318: 1737–1742.
- Ishimatsu A, Hayashi M, Lee K-S, Kikkawa T, Kita J (2005) Physiological effects on fishes in a high-CO₂ world. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 110: C09S09.
- Ishimatsu A, Hayashi M, Kikkawa T (2008) Fishes in high-CO₂, acidified oceans. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 373: 295-302.
- Jain KE, Farrell AP (2003) Influence of seasonal temperature on the repeat swimming performance of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 206: 3569-3579.
- Johansen JL, Jones GP (2011) Increasing ocean temperatures reduces the metabolic



performance and swimming ability of coral reef damselfishes. *Global Change Biology* 17: 2971-2979.

- Johnson JE, Marshall PA (2007) *Climate change and the Great Barrier Reef A vulnerability assessment*. Great Barier Reef Marine Park Authority and the Australian Greenhouse Office, Australia.
- Jones GP, McCormick MI, Srinivasan M, Eagle JV (2004) Coral decline threatens fish biodiversity in marine reserves. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101: 8251-8253
- Leis JM, Carson-Ewart BM (1999) In situ swimming and settlement behaviour of larvae of an Indo-Pacific coral-reef fish, the coral trout *Plectropomus leopardus* (Pisces: Serranidae). *Marine Biology* 134: 51-64.
- Leis JM, Siebeck U, Dixson DL (2011) How Nemo finds home: The neuroecology of dispersal and of population connectivity in larvae of marine fishes. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 51: 826-843.
- Luiker EA, Stevens ED (1994) Effect of temperature and stimulus train duration on the departure from theoretical maximum work in fish muscle. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 72: 965-969.
- Madin JS, Connolly SR (2006) Ecological consequences of major hydrodynamic disturbances on coral reefs. *Nature* 444: 477-480.
- Manly BFJ (2002) *Resource selection by animals: statistical design and analysis for field studies*. Kluwer Academic Publishers
- Mapstone BD, McKinlay JP, Davies CR (1996) A description of the commercial reef line fishery logbook data held by the Queensland Fisheries Management Authority, Report to the Queensland Fisheries Management Authority, Brisbane, Australia.
- Markert CL, Shaklee JB, Whitt GS (1975) Evolution of a Gene. Science 189: 102-114.
- Marshall NA, Marshall PA (2007) Conceptualizing and operationalizing social resilience with commercial fisheries in northern Australia. *Ecology and Society* 12(1): 1
- Mehrbach C, Culberson CH, Hawley JE, Pytkowicz RM (1973) Measurement of the apparent dissociation constants of carbonic acid in seawater at atmospheric pressure. *Limnology and Oceanography* 18: 897–907.
- Morimoto RI (1998) Regulation of the heat shock transcriptional response: cross talk between a family of heat shock factors, molecular chaperones, and negative regulators. *Genes and Development* 12: 3788-3796.
- Morris AV, Roberts CM, Hawkins JP (2000) The threatened status of groupers (Epinephelinae). *Biodiversity and Conservation* 9: 919-942.
- Munday PL (2004) Habitat loss, resource specialization, and extinction on coral reefs. *Global Change Biology* 10: 1642-1647.
- Munday PL, Jones GP, Pratchett MS, Williams A (2008) Climate change and the future for coral reef fishes. *Fish and Fisheries* 9: 261-285.
- Munday PL, Crawley NE, Nilsson GE (2009a) Interacting effects of elevated temperature and ocean acidification on the aerobic performance of coral reef fishes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 388: 235-242.


- Munday PL, Dixson DL, Donelson JM, Jones GP, Pratchett MS, Devitsina GV, Doving KB (2009b) Ocean acidification impairs olfactory discrimination and homing ability of a marine fish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106: 1848-1852.
- MundayPl, Dixson DL, McCormick MI, Meekan M, Ferrari MCO, Chovers DP (2010) Replenishment of fish populations is threatened by ocean acidification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107: 12930-12934.
- Musick JA (1999) Life in the slow lane: Ecology and conservation of long-lived marine animals. *American Fisheries Society Symposium* 23: 1-10.
- Myers RA, Worm B (2005) Extinction, survival or recovery of large predatory fishes. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 360: 13-20.
- New M, Liverman D, Schroder H, Anderson K (2011) Four degrees and beyond: the potential for a global temperature increase of four degrees and its implications. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 369: 6-19.
- Nilsson GE, Crawley N, Lunde IG, Munday PL (2009) Elevated temperature reduces the respiratory scope of coral reef fishes. *Global Change Biology* 15: 1405-1412.
- Orr JC, Fabry VJ, Aumont O, Bopp L, Doney SC, Feely RA, Gnanadesikan A, Gruber N, Ishida A, Joos F, Key RM, Lindsay K, Maier-Reimer E, Matear R, Monfray P, Mouchet A, Najjar RG, Plattner G, Rodgers KB, Sabine CL, Sarmiento JL, Schlitzer R, Slater RD, Totterdell IJ, Weirig M, Yamanaka Y, Yool A (2005) Anthropogenic ocean acidification over the twenty-first century and its impact on calcifying organisms. *Nature* 437:681–686.
- Ospina AF, Mora C (2004) Effect of body size on reef fish tolerance to extreme low and high temperature. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 70: 339-343.
- Parsell DA, Lindquist S (1993) The function of heat-shock proteins in stress tolerance degradation and reactivation of damaged proteins. *Annual Review of Genetics* 27: 437-496.
- Pauly D (2008) Global fisheries: a brief review. Journal of Biological Research 9: 3-9.
- Pecl GT, Frusher SD, Gardner C, Haward M, Hobday AJ, Jennings S, Nursey-Bray M, Punt AE, Revill H, van Putten IE (2009) *The east coast Tasmanian rock lobster fishery–vulnerability to climate change impacts and adaptation response options*. Project Report. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, Australia.
- Perry AL, Low PJ, Ellis JR, Reynolds JD (2005) Climate change and distribution shifts in marine fishes. *Science* 308: 1912-1915.
- Podrabsky JE, Somero GN (2004) Changes in gene expression associated with acclimation to constant temperatures and fluctuating daily temperatures in an annual killifish Austrofundulus limnaeus. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 207: 2237-2254.
- Pörtner HO (2001) Climate change and temperature-dependent biogeography: oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance in animals. *Naturwissenschaften* 88, 137-146.
- Pörtner HO (2009) Oxygen- and capacity-limitation of thermal tolerance: a matrix for integrating climate-related stressor effects in marine ecosystems. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 213: 881-893

Pörtner HO, Farrell AP (2008) Physiology and climate change. Science 322: 690-692

Pörtner HO, Langenbuch M, Reipschlager A (2004) Biological impact of elevated ocean



CO2 concentrations: lessons from animal physiology and earth history. *Journal of Oceanography* 60: 705-718.

- Pörtner HO, Langenbuch M (2005) Synergistic effects of temperature extremes, hypoxia, and increases in CO₂ on marine animals: from Earth history to global change. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 110, C09S10.
- Pörtner HO, Schulte PM, Wood CM, Schiemer F (2010) Niche dimensions in fishes: An integrative view. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 83: 808–826
- Powers DA, Lauerman T, Crawford D, Dimichele L (1991) Genetic mechanisms for adapting to a changing environment. *Annual Review of Genetic* 25: 629-659.
- Powers DA, Schulte PM (1998) Evolutionary adaptations of gene structure and expression in natural populations in relation to a changing environment: A multidisciplinary approach to address the million-year saga of a small fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 282: 71-94.
- Pratchett MS, Wilson SK, Berumen ML, McCormick MI (2004) Sublethal effects of coral bleaching on an obligate coral feeding butterflyfish. *Coral Reefs* 23: 352-356.
- Pratchett MS, Munday PL, Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Bellwood DR, Jones GP, Polunin NVC, McClanahan TR (2008) Effects of climate-induced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes: ecological and economic consequences. *Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review* 46: 251-296.
- Pratchett MS, Bay LK, Gehrke PC, Koehn J, Osborne K, Pressey RL, Sweatman HPA, Wachenfeld D (2011a) Contribution of climate change to degradation and loss of critical fish habitats in Australian aquatic environments. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 62:1062-1081
- Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Wilson SK, Messmer V, Graham NAJ (2011b) Changes in the biodiversity and functioning of reef fish assemblages following coral bleaching and coral loss. *Diversity* 3: 424-452.
- Pratchett MS, Munday PL, Graham NAJ, Kronen M, Pinica S, Friedman K, Brewer T, Bell JD, Wilson SK, Cinner JE, Kinch JP, Lawton RJ, Williams AJ, Chapman L, Magron F, Webb A (2011c) Vulnerability of coastal fisheries in the tropical Pacific to climate change. Pages 493-576. In: Bell JD, Johnson JE, Hobday AJ (Eds) *Vulnerability of tropical Pacific Fisheries and Aquaculture to Climate Change*. Secretariat for the Pacific Community, Noumea, New Caledonia.
- Russ GR, Cheal AJ, Dolman AM, Emslie MJ, Evans RD, Miller I, Sweatman H, Williamson DH (2008) Rapid increase in fish numbers follows creation of world's largest marine reserve network. *Current Biology* 18: 514-515.
- Sadovy Y, Colin PL (1995) Sexual development and sexuality in the Nassau grouper. *Journal* of Fish Biology 46: 961-976.
- Sadovy YJ, Vincent AC (2002) Ecological issues and the trades in live reef fishes. In Sale PF (Ed) *Coral reef fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a Complex Ecosystem.* Pages 391-420.
- Samoilys MA (1997) Periodicity of spawning aggregations of coral trout *Plectropomus leopardus* (Pisces: Serranidae) on the northern Great Barrier Reef. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 160: 149-159.



- Sano M, Shimizu M, Nose Y (1984) Changes in structure of coral reef fish communities by destruction of hermatypic corals: observational and experimental views. *Pacific Science* 38: 51-79.
- Sano M, Shimizu M, Nose Y (1987) Long-term effects of destruction of hermatypic corals by *Acanthaster planci* infestation on reef fish communities at Iriomote Island, Japan. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 37: 191-199.
- Schulte PM, Glemet HC, Fiebig AA, Powers DA (2000) Adaptive variation in lactate dehydrogenase-B gene expression: Role of a stress-responsive regulatory element. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 97: 6597-6602.
- Stillman JH (2003) Acclimation capacity underlies susceptibility to climate change. *Science* 301: 65-65.
- Tobin A, Schlaff A, Tobin R, Penny A, Ayling T, Ayling A, Krause B, Welch D, Sutton S, Sawynok B, Marshall N, Marshall P and Maynard J (2010) Adapting to change: minimising uncertainty about the effects of rapidly-changing environmental conditions on the Queensland Coral Reef Fin Fish Fishery. Final Report to the Fisheries Research & Development Corporation, Project 2008/103. Fishing & Fisheries Research Centre Technical Report No. 11, James Cook University, Townsville, Australia (172pp.).
- Van Herwerden L, Choat JH, Newman SJ, Leray M, Hillersøy G (2009) Complex patterns of population structure and recruitment of *Plectropomus leopardus* (Pisces: Epinephelidae) in the Indo-West Pacific: implications for fisheries management. *Marine Biology* 156: 1595-1607.
- Webster PJ, Holland GJ, Curry JA, Chang HR (2005) Changes in tropical cyclone number, duration, and intensity in a warming environment. *Science* 309: 1844-1846.
- Welch DJ, Mapstone BD, Begg GA (2008) Spatial and temporal variation and effects of changes in management in discard rates from the commercial reef line fishery of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Fisheries Research* 90: 247-260.
- Wen C, Pratchett MS, Almany G, Jones GP (2013) Patterns of recruitment and microhabitat associations for three predatory coral reef fishes on the southern Great Barrier Reef, Australia. *Coral Reefs* DOI: 10.1007/s00338-012-0985-x
- Williamson DH, Russ GR, Ayling AM (2004) No-take marine reserves increase abundance and biomass of reef fish on inshore fringing reefs of the Great Barrier Reef. *Environmental Conservation* 31: 149-159.
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP, Polunin NVC (2006) Multiple disturbances and the global degradation of coral reefs: are reef fishes at risk or resilient? *Global Change Biology* 12: 2220-2234.
- Wilson SK, Depczynski M, Fisher R, Holmes TH, O'Leary RA, Tinkler P (2010) Habitat associations of juvenile fish at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia: the importance of coral and algae. *PLoS ONE* 5: e15185.
- Wood CM, Mcdonald DG (1997) *Global warming: implications for freshwater and marine fish.* Cambridge university press, Cambridge, UK
- Worm B, Sandow M, Oschlies A, Lotze HK, Myers RA (2005) Global patterns of predator diversity in the open oceans. *Science* 309: 1365-1369.



13.0 APPENDICES

13.1 Intellectual property

The research described in this report is for the public domain. The report and resulting manuscripts are intended for wide dissemination and promotion. All data and statistics presented conform to confidentiality arrangements.

13.2 Staff

Prof. Morgan S. PratchettARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Vanessa MessmerARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityFRDCMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark, Prof. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental School of Earth and EnvironmentalIn-kind
Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityDr. Vanessa MessmerARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
UniversityDr. Vanessa MessmerARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityFRDCMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
Dr. Vanessa MessmerARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityFRDCMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental Lowel ContreIn-kind
Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
UniversityIn-kindMr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and EnvironmentalIn-kind
Mr. Adam ReynoldsNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and EnvironmentalIn-kind
Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryRevenue of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryDepartment of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and EnvironmentalIn-kind
Fisheries and ForestryMs. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland GovernmentFRDCQueensland GovernmentDepartment of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and EnvironmentalIn-kind
Ms. Jenna MartinNorthern Fisheries Centre, Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryFRDCDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
Queensland Government Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryIn-kindDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceIn-kindProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityIn-kindDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kindIn-kind
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and ForestryDr. Timothy D. Clark,Australian Instute of Marine ScienceProf. Philip L. MundayARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook UniversityDr. Andrew J. TobinSchool of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Dr. Timothy D. Clark, Australian Instute of Marine In-kind Prof. Philip L. Munday ARC Centre of Excellence for In-kind Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University In-kind Dr. Andrew J. Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Dr. Timothy D. Clark, Australian Instute of Marine In-kind Prof. Philip L. Munday ARC Centre of Excellence for In-kind Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University In-kind Dr. Andrew J. Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Dr. Finioury Dr. Onand, Finioury Dr. Onand, Finioury Dr. Onand, Finioury Dr. Andrew J. Tobin Prof. Philip L. Munday ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University In-kind Dr. Andrew J. Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Prof. Philip L. Munday ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University In-kind Dr. Andrew J. Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Interview of Enconcrete for an Andrew J. Tobin Interview of Enconcrete for an Andrew I. Tobin Dr. Andrew J. Tobin School of Earth and Environmental
Dr Andrew J Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Dr Andrew J Tobin School of Earth and Environmental In-kind
Sciences James Cook Unviersity
Dr. Andrew S. Hoev ARC Centre of Excellence for FRDC and in-kind
Coral Reef Studies James Cook
University
Dr. Jacob Johansen School of Marine and Tropical FRDC and in-kind
Biology James Cook University
Ms Heather Veilleux School of Marine and Tropical FRDC and in kind
Biology James Cook University
Dr Lynna van Harwardan Sahaal of Marina and Tranical In kind
Biology James Cook University
Dr. Richard Knuckey Northern Fisheries Centre In-kind
Di. Kienard Klidekey Northern Fisheries Centre, In-Klid
Department of Agriculture
Fisheries and Forestry
Dr Kata Hutaan Sahaal of Marina and Tranical In kind
Biology James Cook University

